

UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI PALERMO

Dottorato di Ricerca in Biomedicina e Neuroscienze Dipartimento di Biomedicina Sperimentale e Neuroscienze Cliniche (BioNeC) SSD MED/27

TITLE

Chaperons moleculae in brain tumors-CHAMOBRAT TRIAL: HSP60 and microRNAs related levels in tissue and circulating exosomes in human brain tumors before and after ablative

surgery

IL CANDIDATO Dott.ssa Francesca Graziano LA COORDINATRICE Chiar.mo Prof. Felicia Farina

TUTOR

Chiar.mo Prof. Domenico Gerardo Iacopino

CICLO XXXI ANNO 2018/2019

TITLE

Chaperons moleculae in brain tumors-CHAMOBRAT TRIAL: HSP60 and microRNAs related levels in tissue and circulating exosomes in human brain tumors before and after ablative

surgery

by

CANDIDATE

Francesca Graziano, MD

Dissertation

Presented for the requirements toward the completion

for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Dedication

To all the women of my matriarchal family that, each one with different points of view and cultural background, have taught me the fundamental principles of living, loving and deeply beliving in something.

Acknowledgements

This thesis is the result of an intense work of collaboration and ispiration from different specialities. Firstly, I wish to deeply thank Prof. Francesco Cappello from the Department of Experimental Biomedicine and Clinical Neuroscience, Section of Human Anatomy, University of Palermo and the Euro-Mediterranean Institute of Science and Technology (IEMEST) to gave me the opportunity to open my mind, going beyond my specific surgical attitude and allowing me to put into practice the true sense of the scienctific research: going from bench to bedside. It was also an honor for me to have the opportunity to know Everly Conway de Macario and Albert J.L. Macario from the Euro-Mediterranean Institute of Science and Technology (IEMEST) and Department of Microbiology and Immunology, School of Medicine, University of Maryland at Baltimore-Institute of Marine and Environmental Technology (IMET). I wish to thank them for the suggestions, support and constant update on the latest insights on my research topic. Then, I also desire to express my true gratitude to Celeste Caruso Bavisotto, from the Department of Experimental Biomedicine and Clinical Neuroscience, Section of Human Anatomy, University of Palermo and Euro-Mediterranean Institute of Science and Technology (IEMEST) that has followed me as a real Angel, with patience, accuracy and complete availability. Finally, a special thank is for my Tutor, Prof D.G Iacopino and for all my neurosurgical family that always embrace my projects and help me in carrying on them.

TITLE

Chaperons moleculae in brain tumors-CHAMOBRAT TRIAL: HSP60 and microRNAs related levels in tissue and circulating exosomes in human brain tumors before and after ablative

surgery

Abstract

Current regimen for high-grade gliomas is maximal safe surgical resection followed by external beam radiotherapy with concurrent temozolamide. Maximal tumor resection, however, must be balanced with preservation of the patient's neurological function. A crucial prognostic factor in oncological neurosurgery is the extent of resection. Several studies have addressed the importance of extent of resection in gliomas surgery. Despite development in the fields of pre operative and intraoperative neuroimaging and neuromonitoring have ameliorated the survival rate and the quality of life for patients affected by high grade gliomas, the clinical outcome of patients with such gliomas remains extremely poor. Among molecular proteins implied in the brain cancerogenesis, Heat Shock Proteins (HSPs) or chaperones, and miRNAs associated with HSP genes may represent a novel and important research field. The aim of the current project is to research the presence, levels, expression and distribution of HSP60 and some miRNAs involved in their regulation, in pathological tissues and in exosomes isolated by blood samples, obtained from patients with gliomas and atypical meningiomas, before and after ablative surgery. Our preliminary results show that exosomal HSP60 and its regulators can be considered tools for improving diagnostic procedures for diagnosis, patient stratification and/or prognosis of disease outcome. We suggest to start to look at the brain tumors through the Chaperone Eye and consider at least some of these tumors to be chaperonopathies by mistake or collaborationism. Looking at tumors through the Chaperone Eye implies that patient examination should include qualitative and quantitative analyses of Hsps, including those in exosomes, before and after surgery and other treatments for monitoring disease evolution and response to treatment. This conduct will provide new insights on brain tumors that will enhance progress in clinical applications of chaperones and exosomes, including their use as novel biomarkers or, in future, therapeutic agents.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1: Introduction

- 1 Microscopic, functional and clinical anatomy of the brain
- 1.1 Central Nervous system tumors epidemiology and risk factors
- 1.2 Histopathological classifications of brain tumors

Chapter 2: High Grade Glioma

Gliomagenesis overview

- 2.1 Clinical presentation and prognostic outcome
- 2.2 Glioma therapeutic management

Chapter 3: Meningiomas

- 3 Meningiomagenesis overview
- 3.1 Meningioma therapeutic management

Chapter 4: Surgical brain tumor approach

- 4 Pre operative Neuro-radiological evaluation
- 4.1 Brain surgery guided by fluorescence and neuronavigation
- 4.2 Intraoperative elettrophisiological mapping and monitoring
- 4.3 Intra operative CT, MRI and CEUS

Chapter 5: The Chaperonology

5 Molecular chaperones: locales of residence, functions, and roles during tumorigenesis

- 5.1 miRNAs: intracellular localization, functions, and roles during tumorigenesis
- 5.2 Exosomes: nanovectors for extracellular chaperones and miRNAs

Chapter 6: Aim of the thesis

Material and Methods

- 1 Patient selection and enrollment
- 2 Specimen collection
- 3 Histological analysis and Immunohistochemistry
- 4 microRNAs extraction from paraffin embedded tissue and Real Time PCR
- 5 Blood sample collection and exosomes isolation
- 6 Exosome characterization
- 6.1 Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM)
- 6.2 Atomic force microscopy (AFM)
- 6.3 Dynamic Light Scattering (DLS)
- 7 Western blot analysis
- 8 Western Blotting analysis of Hsp60 in exosomes
- 9 microRNAs extraction from plasma exosomes and Real Time PCR

Results and Discussion

Conclusion and future prospectives

References

List of Tables: 2; Table 1: pg 35, 36; Table 2: pg 42.

List of Figures: 11; Fig 1: pg 28; Fig 2: pg 39; Fig 3: pg 45; Fig 4: pg 46; Fig 5: pg 47; Fig 6-7: pg 48; Fig 8: pg 49; Fig 9: pg 50; Fig 10: pg 51; Fig 11: pg 52.

List of Abbreviations: High grade glioma (HGG), heat shock proteins (Hsps), Glioblastomas multiforme (GBM), extent of resection (EOR), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), computerized tomography (CT), and ultrasound (US), diffusion tensor imaging (DTI), Diffusion tensor tractography (DTT), transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS), direct electrical stimulation (DES), 5-Aminolevulinic acid (5-ALA),, Central Nervous System (CNS), peripheral nervous systems (PNS), basement membrane (BM), extracellular matrix (ECM) and epithelial to mesenxhimal transition (EMT), isocitrate dehydrogenase 1/2 (IDH1/2), blood-brain barrier (BBB), matrix metalloproteases (MMPs), temozolomide (TMZ), Karnofski Perfomance Status (KPS), O⁶-methylguanine-DNA methyltransfer-ase (MGMT), carmustine (BCNU) and lomustine (CCNU), vincristine (PCV), Fluorescence guided surgery (FGS), protoporphyrin IX (PpIX), Contrast-enhanced US (CEUS), ultrasound contrast agent (UCA) Intraoperative ultrasound (iUS), somatosensory evoked potential (SEP), chaperoning system (CS), ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS). chaperone-mediated autophagy (CMA), immune microRNA (miRNA), Argonaute (AGO), miRNA-protein complex system (IU). (miRISC), multivesicular bodies (MVB), Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM), Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM) and Dynamic Light Scattering (DLS).

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Gliomas and other neuroepithelial tumors constitute 49% of primary brain tumors, and meningiomas are the next most frequent histologic type (27%)[1, 2]. Gliomas display histological similarities to glial cells, including astrocytes and oligodendrocytes and, consequently they are classified as astrocytoma, oligodendroglioma, or oligoastrocytoma. According to the 2007 World Health Organization (WHO) classification, gliomas can be categorized as low-grade (WHO grade I and II) and high-grade (WHO grade III and IV). More than half of all gliomas are GBM (Glioblastomas multiforme) (WHO grade IV astrocytoma). Genetic studies have identified a number of recurrent chromosomal abnormalities and genetic alterations in malignant gliomas, particularly in GBM. The overall survival is usually only around 12 months and the overall 5-year survival rate remains less than 5 % [1, 2]. Several studies have addressed the importance of EOR in GBM surgery [3-7]. The European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer/National Cancer Institute of Canada Phase III trial has established as current regimen for high-grade gliomas (HGG) a maximal safe surgical resection followed by external beam radiotherapy with concurrent temozolamide oral administration therapy. Maximal tumor resection, however, must be balanced with preservation of patient's neurological functions. Multiple pre-operative techniques have been developed to assist in identifying eloquent areas and their relationships to brain lesions, including functional magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) and transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS). Intraoperative adjuncts, such as neuronavigation, direct electrical stimulation (DES) mapping, intraoperative MRI or computerized tomography, and 5-aminolevulinic acid (5-ALA) fluorescence, have also been used to maximize the safety of aggressive resection around eloquent areas [8-10,11-14].

The dismal clinical outcome of gliomas has made them an urgent subject of cancer research for identification of novel factors associated with their development. Among the proteins implicated in brain carcinogenesis, molecular chaperones also called heat shock proteins, represent a novel and important research field. Hsps are evolutionarily conserved proteins involved in various cellular processes including brain tumors, and their expression variations are tightly associated with the progressive staging and prognosis of gliomas, which provides an opportunity for using these molecules as biomarkers in diagnosis, and assessing prognosis and response to treatment [15-17].

In this research project, we aim to present a comprehensive review of the main pre-operative and intra-operative approaches currently available to manage brain tumors, with particular attention to HGG. In our project we present a laboratory study on HSP proteins (in particular HSP 60) and miRNA HSP60 related, detected on blood samples and on pathological tissue samples of patients affected by brain tumors (mainly GBM and atypical meningiomas). These proteins, also called chaperons moleculae, were studied over time during the pre operative time and during the post op follow up of the patients enrolled in the study in order to understand their variability and their potential correlation with the brain disease. The main goal of this project is to potentially identify novel biomarkers to detect and follow up HGG or meningiomas and to provide new insights in the understanding of brain tumors and in the developing of future therapeutic targets.

1 Microscopic, functional and clinical anatomy of the brain

The nervous system is composed by the central nervous system and by the peripheral one. The central nervous system is made by the brain and the spinal medulla, located respectively, inside the cranium and inside the vertebral canal. The nervous system is responsible of integration, processing and coordination of sensitive information and motor stimuli. The superior functions, such as intelligence, memory, learning process, emotions are organized in the central nervous system. The peripheral nervous system includes nerves, ganglion structures seated outside the central nervous system and it favors the connection from periphery to the centre. The neurons are elements highly specialized in transferring information between one region to the other one. The nervous tissue is formed by neurons and glial cells. Neurons present specific properties such as excitability and pulse transmission capability. They communicate each other or with effector organs thanks to membrane communication called synapsis. The communication is immediate and unidirectional. Glial cells are supporting and trophic cells and contribute to the revitalization of the nervous cells. Both neurons and glial cells are coming from a common staminal cell from a macroscopic point of view the central nervous system is formed by grey substance and by a white one. The grey one contains neurons cellular bodies and the white one mainly the assons myelinized. Glial cells are divided in astrocytes, oligodendrocites, microglia cells, ependimal cells and Schwann cells. All of them act as scaffolds to neurons and provide them metabolic support. Different brain regions are able to rework the electrical connections when new information are elaborated. This ability is called neuronal plasticity and this allows for neuronal learning.

Neuroplasticity can be defined as a continuous process subserving short, middle and longterm remodeling of the neurono-synaptic organization, in order to optimize the functioning of neural networks – during phylogeny, ontogeny, physiological learning and after brain insult [18]. Neural plasticity is possible solely in a dynamic account of cerebral distribution, in which the nervous system is an ensemble of complex subcircuits that form, reshape and flush information dynamically [19]. Over the years, this traditional static view of the functional organization of the brain had changed [20]. In the last 10 years the impressive work research of Duffauet al. has broken with this classical modular and inflexible model by proposing a dynamic and connectomal anatomy underlying neural circuits, that explains a major inter- individual anatomo-functional variability [21] and that allows postlesional cerebral adaptive phenomena able to maintain neurological and cognitive functions [19] opening the window to new therapeutic strategies in brain-damaged patients, especially in the field of neurooncology [22]. Advances in functional neuroimaging have recently provided new insights into the neurobiology of cerebral functions, especially with regard to language, by studying the whole brain during functional tasks, both in healthy subjects and in braindamaged patients. Using task-based functional MRI, the classical concept of language organization shifted towards distributed models [23]. A step forward the understanding of function brain organization and re- organization after cerebral injury, has been made thanks the knowledge provided by the intra operative brain mapping in awake patients. Intraoperative mapping enables to check whether brain structures that have to be surgically removed for oncological (e.g. involved by a glioma) or epileptological purposes are still essential for neurological, neurocognitive and behavioral functions. Direct electrical stimulation offers a unique opportunity to map directly the human connectome in vivo. In clinical routine, this technique that permits to achieve tumor resection or epileptological area up to individual functional boundaries [24] has extensively been validated as an easy, reliable, reproducible, and safe mapping method, and it is now considered as the gold-standard in glioma surgery [24-25]. Conversely to functional neuroimaging, which provide purely anatomical fiber reconstruction without functional implications, DES is able to detect the structures essential for neural functions, particularly with regard to white matter bundles, by inhibiting a subpathway during a few seconds - with the possibility to validate if the same functional consequences are reproduced when repeat stimulations are applied over the same structure. Of note, by gathering all cortical and axonal sites where the same type of errors has been caused by stimulation, one would build up the subcircuit of the disrupted subfunction.

As a consequence, DES represents a unique tool to detect with a great precision (about 5 mm) and reproducibility, in vivo in humans, the structures that are crucial for neural functions. DES is able to map brain function patient specific and lesion specific, since it can define by direct electrical stimulation, the functions compromised and, whether activated, the areas that replace that specific function.

1.1 Central Nervous system tumors epidemiology and risk factors

Central Nervous System (CNS) cancers are a group of different tumour entities anatomically close to each other but diverse in terms of morphology, site, molecular biology and clinical behaviour and presumably aetiology. In Europe, the World incidence of primary CNS cancers ranges from 4.5 to 11.2 cases per 100,000 men and from 1.6 to 8.5 per 100,000 women. The two most common CNS cancers, high-grade glioma and brain metastasis occur more frequently during adulthood and especially among the elderly. In Europe, the peak of incidenceis 18.5/100,000 in people aged over 65 years [26]. The relative frequency of CNS tumours is however highest during childhood, when they account for 23% of all the cancers diagnosed. In adults the 5-year survival rate for the primary CNS cancers in Europe was 17% for males and 19% for females (1995–2002), with differences across European regions. Survivorship is higher for young European patients -63% - than for the elderly ones. Statistics on CNS tumours are estimated by grouping all malignancies arising in all the CNS anatomic sites: meninges, brain, spinal cord, cranial nerves and other localisation of CNS. However, rare tumours are more appropriately defined as a combination of topographical and morphological characteristics, as defined by the International Classification of Diseases for Oncology. The Surveillance of Rare Cancers in Europe (RARECARE; www.rarecare.eu) project, is a large collaboration of population-based cancer registries (CRs) across Europe which provides a list of rare cancers on the basis of topography and morphology [2]. Clinical factors, such as difficulties in achieving diagnosis, in clinical decision making and in conducting clinical studies and the lack of standardised treatment mainly affected the definition of the type of cancers of the RARECARE list. Under the threshold proposed by the RARECARE project, incidence lower than 6 per 100,000 per year, CNS malignant tumours are included. However, despite the rarity of entities selected by using this cut-off, there are many sub-entities for each group (i.e. different histologies and WHO grade of glial tumours) with different prognosis and different treatment approaches. The key epidemiologic determinants of glioma risk include advancing age, male sex, and Caucasian race [26-29].

Few environmental or lifestyle exposures, except for ionising radiation, have been found to be consistently associated with glioma risk. Suspected risk factors include lifestyle behaviors (e.g., smoking, alcohol consumption, coffee drinking), infectious agents (e.g., polyomaviruses, cytomegaloviruses, influenza, varicella zoster, Toxoplasma gondii), diet/vitamins (e.g., nitrosamine compounds, vitamin C, vitamin D3), beauty products (e.g., hair dyes and lighteners, hair waving and straightening chemicals), industrial exposures (e.g., rubber manufacturing, petroleum products), mobile phones, electromagnetic fields, allergies/immunity, agricultural/farm animal exposures, handedness, birth weight/height, and various genetic polymorphisms [28-30].

1.2 Histopathological classifications of brain tumors

Glial cells or neuroglia are a heterogeneous cellular compartment of the nervous tissue associated with neurons and have various roles in the central and peripheral nervous systems (CNS and PNS, respectively). These cells are more numerous than neurons, and are functionally different from them since they are involved in the maintenance of neuronal homeostatic balance and myelination, providing structural support and protection for neurons and furthermore, during embryonic development glial cells regulate the differentiation and the neuronal survival. In the CNS, glial cells are variable in number and in type, including two main groups: macroglia and microglia. The first group includes the larger types of glial cells originating in the neural plate represented by astrocytes and oligodendroglia, whereas the second group includes smaller types of cells originating in the mesoderm. In the PNS, glial cells are represented by the Schwann cells that develop from the neural crest cells that migrate away from the neural tube; and satellite cells that appear postnatally [31]. Until the discovery of Neural Stem Cells (NSCs) in the CNS, it was assumed that glial cells were the only ones endowed with the capacity to divide and, consequently, the histological classification of brain tumors was based on glial cells features. In fact, gliomas display histological similarities to glial cells, including astrocytes and oligodendrocytes and, therefore, they are classified as astrocytoma, oligodendroglioma, or oligoastrocytoma. More than half of gliomas are glioblastoma multiforme (GBM; WHO grade IV astrocytoma). The new 2016 World Health Organization Classification of Tumors of the Central Nervous System is both a conceptual and practical advance over its 2007 predecessor [32]. For the first time, the WHO classification of CNS tumors uses molecular parameters in addition to histology to define many tumor entities, thus formulating a concept for how CNS tumor diagnoses should be structured in the molecular era.

Glioblastomas are divided in the 2016 CNS WHO into (1) glioblastoma, IDH-wildtype (about 90 % of cases), which corresponds most frequently with the clinically defined pri- mary or de novo glioblastoma and predominates in patients over 55 years of age; (2) glioblastoma, IDH-mutant (about 10 % of cases), which corresponds closely to so- called secondary glioblastoma with a history of prior lower grade diffuse glioma and preferentially arises in younger patients and (3) glioblastoma, NOS, a diagnosis that is reserved for those tumors for which full IDH evaluation cannot be performed. In this new classification, the diffuse gliomas include the WHO grade II and grade III astrocytic tumors, the grade II and III oligodendrogliomas, the grade IV glioblastomas, as well as the related diffuse gliomas of childhood. This approach leaves those astrocytomas that have a more circumscribed growth pattern, lack IDH gene family alterations and frequently have *BRAF* alterations (pilocytic astrocytoma) distinct from the diffuse gliomas. In other words, diffuse astrocytoma and oligodendrogliomas are now nosologically more similar than are diffuse astrocytoma and pilocytic astrocytoma; the family trees have been redrawn [32].

CHAPTER 2: HIGH GRADE GLIOMA

2 Gliomagenesis overview

GBM incidence in the United States was estimated to be 3:100,000 with more than 10,000 cases being diagnosed annually. It constitutes 45.2% of all malignant CNS tumors, 80% of all primary malignant CNS tumors, and approximately 54.4% of all malignant gliomas. Mean age at diagnosis is 64 years and it is 1.5 times more common in men than in women and 2 times more common in whites compared to blacks. The incidence has increased slightly over the past 20 years mostly due to improved radiologic diagnosis and increase in life span of men and women [26] Recent genetic studies have identified a number of recurrent chromosomal abnormalities and genetic alterations in malignant gliomas, particularly in GBM. The main biological processes in gliomagenesis are extracellular matrix (ECM) remodelling and epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT)[33]. Tumor-cell growth and invasion are linked to ECM remodelling, involving proteolysis. Physiologically, basement membrane (BM) separates epithelial cells from the ECM preventing their interaction with the microenvironment. Destabilized BM allows contact between epithelial cells and various signalling ECM proteins. Expression of mesenchymal cytoskeletal proteins and deposition of ECM proteins promote the migratory potential of glioma cells by activating integrin and signalling pathways. These changes activate the invasiveness and migratory potential of glioma cells, leading to poor prognosis with evasion from treatment agents and establishment of resistance to therapeutics. One of the major challenges in glioma treatment is the migratory potential of glioma cells breaching into the blood-brain barrier (BBB)-protected areas of the brain. Hence, unravelling the migration mechanisms has always been of great importance in glioma research. The major players contributing to glioma-cells dissemination are ECM degradation through matrix metalloproteases (MMPs), intracellular cytoskeletal rearrangements, and stimuli to chemo attractants. The MMPs mainly aid in degrading the basement membrane along with ECM. During EMT, MMPs secreted by glioma and stromal cells facilitate ECM remodelling, invasiveness through ECM degradation, promoting migration by release of growth factors embedded within the ECM for activation of signal transduction cascades. The levels of MMPs are correlated with histological grading of gliomas.

2.1 Clinical presentation and prognostic outcome

Clinically, patients with GBM may present with headaches, focal neurologic deficits, confusion, memory loss, personality changes, and seizures. As demonstrated extensively, GBM prognosis si related to age, Karnofski Perfomance Status (KPS), gender, hystology type and mainly to the extent of resection and adyuvant therapy. The impact of both extensive resection and chemotherapy with temozolomide (TMZ) on patient survival has been demonstrated. In particular, following the randomized Phase III trial by Stupp et al., the current standard, postsurgical, first-line treatment for newly diagnosed glioblastoma is based on concurrent radiation therapy and TMZ chemotherapy followed by 6 cycles of adjuvant TMZ therapy, i.e., the Stupp protocol [4]. Temozolomide treatment has been associated with significantly better tolerability and fewer side effects than other drugs previously used for chemotherapy in patients with glioblastoma [6]. The role of O^6 -methylguanine-DNA methyltransfer-ase (MGMT) promoter methylation has been studied and associated with a better outcome in patients with glioblastoma undergoing TMZ chemotherapy, and analysis of MGMT promoter methylation status has become standard in patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma.[6] Sanai et al. proved that in newly diagnosed glioblastomas an EOR above 78% correlates with significant survival advantage. Such benefit further improves when EOR is between 95% and 100%, as documented by postoperative MRI. Yet the use of 5-ALA and fluorescence-guided resection may help to increase tumor EOR and achieve a better outcome [7,8, 10]. Despite the advancements in treatment modalities, GBM prognosis remains poor, with an overall patient survival ranging between 12 and 18 months, a 2-year survival rate of 26.5%, and a 70% recurrence rate within 1 year from initial treatment [26, 29, 34].

2.2 Glioma therapeutic management

Currently, the standard of care for newly diagnosed glioblastoma is derived from a randomized clinical trial published in 2005 and consists of maximal feasible surgical resection followed by radiotherapy with concurrent and adjuvant temozolomide [4]. This treatment regimen, known as the Stupp regimen, has resulted in a median survival of 14.6 months in patients receiving temozolomide therapy alone compared with 12.1 months in patients receiving external beam radiation alone [2-5]. The adoption of the Stupp regimen has been credited for improvement in the survival of patients with glioblastoma multiforme from 2005 to 2008 compared with the survival from 2000 to 2003, particularly among younger patients.

The US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved the use of temozolomide for the treatment of glioblastoma multiforme in March 2005. The FDA also approved carmustine wafers (initially in 1997) and bevacizumab (in 2009, for glioblastoma multiforme that has progressed after initial treatment) for the treatment of glioblastoma multiforme, but neither of these treatments has demonstrated a significant role in the upfront treatment of this disease. Cytotoxic therapy for GBM has evolved, more due to the approval of temozolomide for newly diagnosed GBM. Active agents include also the nitrosureas: carmustine (BCNU) and lomustine (CCNU), platinum agents, etoposide, irinotecan and PCV combination.

Temozolomide is a newer oral alkylating agent that has excellent penetration into the central nervous system. It is an imidazotetrazine derivative of dacarbazine. It has 96-100% bioavailability and promotes the methylation of the O^6 position on guanine (N7-guanine and N3 adenine). Major toxicities include nausea and myelosuppression (often low platelet counts). Usually, an oral 5-HT3 antagonist is given 30-60 minutes prior to each dose. Dosage is usually started at 75 mg/m² daily concurrently with 6 weeks of regional radiotherapy to the surgical cavity and followed by 6 adjuvant cycles with maintenance dose at 150 mg/m² daily p.o. for 5 days for the first cycle and if well tolerated then scaled up to 200 mg m⁻² day⁻¹ for 5 days in 28-day cycles [34]. Concurrent RT and TMZ results in a median overall survival (OS) of 14.6 months and 2-year survival rate of 26.5%. Temozolomide can be effective for recurrent GBM while its efficacy can be increased with metronomic rather than standard schedule as well as with high average daily dose (N100 mg/m²) [35]. Patients with pro- moter MGMT methylation treated with RT/TMZ have a median survival of 23 months and 5- year OS of 14% versus RT alone (15 months and 5% respectively) [4]. The nitrosureas, carmustine (1,2 bis[2-chloreoethyl]-1-nitrosurea BCNU) and lomustine (CCNU), are two alkylating drugs used in the treatment of GBM and are associated with nausea, vomiting, rash, pulmonary fibrosis (rare) and a delayed myelosuppression and typically given in the dosage of 80 mg m⁻² day⁻¹ i.v. on days 1–3 every 6–8 weeks with radiation [36]. Single agent BCNU is used most often as second line treatment in GBM that has progressed after TMZ. Carmustine biodegradable wafers (Gliadel) are an implantable depot form of BCNU that are placed in the cavity that is formed after re- section of newly diagnosed or recurrent tumor. The wafers release topically BCNU for about 3 weeks. Although they are considered relatively safe they are not used by most centers because of delayed wound healing, intracranial edema, cerebrospinal fluid leakage, intracranial infection and seizures have been reported.

CHAPTER 3: MENINGIOMAS

3 Meningiomagenesis overview

As described in 1922 by H. Cushing, meningiomas are tumors that originate from meningeal cells [37]. The 2007 World Health Organization (WHO) classification of meningiomas reports the benign meningiomas are the most frequent (92% of the total), followed by atypical meningiomas (5-7%) and malignant meningiomas are the less frequent, being 1-3 % of the total. In the 2016 update of the WHO classification of brain tumors, that one regarding meningiomas did not undergo revisions, besides the consideration of brain invasion as an important criterion for the atypical meningiomas characterization (WHO grade II). Indeed, the presence of brain invasion in WHO grade I meningiomas classified as WHO grade II. Therefore, brain invasion should not be considered just a staging feature but a true grading feature, that can, alone, satisfy the histological criterion for diagnosing an atypical meningioma, WHO grade II [32, 38, 39]. Overall survival rates for patients affected by meningiomas (whether benign or atypical), are 81% at 2 years and 69% at 5 years. For malignant meningiomas the 5 year survival rate is 54.6 %[40]. Age is a prognostic factor, since older patients have poorer prognosis. In patients that undergo a complete benign meningioma resection, a 20.5 % recurrence rate at 5 year is documented [41, 42].

3.1 Meningioma therapeutic management

The benign histology of meningiomas influence the surgical approach since the complete tumor removal determines the definitive cure of the pathology. According to the fourth classification of WHO in 2007, 92% of meningiomas are divided into benign tumors (WHO grade I) which comparatively grows in slowly. However, 1-3% are known as malignant meningiomas which has high recurrence rate, morbidity rate, and mortality rate even after surgical treatment. The treatment principle of meningioma is complete surgical removal (Simpson grade I-III), however, the recurrence rate of malignant meningiomas after complete extirpation is 20-40% by the decade and it increases to 40-60% in partial extirpation patients (Simpson grade IV). Also, the 5-year overall survival rate of malignant meningiomas is 32-64%, so adjuvant radiation therapy or radiosurgery is attempted regardless of the extent of surgery. The treatment principle of a meningioma is surgical status becomes an important factor for the prediction of recurrence.

Prognosis for patients with incomplete mass removal is not good, including recurrence and others. Benign meningiomas are less invasive, conversely, malignant meningiomas often recur. Tumor recurrency may be managed by surgery, repeated meningiomas removal may, itself, determine a poor prognosis due to the morbidity of the surgical injury to the superficial cutaneous tissue and to the surrounding vascular and nervous structures. Therefore, in the malignant meningiomas or in those atypical radiotherapy or radiosurgery is encouraged [41, 42].

CHAPTER 4: SURGICAL BRAIN TUMOR APPROACH

The management of a patient affected by brain tumor is demanding and requires maximal attention. The first step is the patient clinical exam. It's essential to evaluate the patient neurological status and the general clinical performance (Karnofski Perfomance Status, KPS) and the anaesthesiological risk, in order to evaluate the eligibility of the patient for surgery and to predict the post operative outcome. The second step is to depict neuroradiologically the lesion. Pre operative neuroimaging allow for an anatomical and functional charcterization of the lesion. Indeed it's essential to understand the exact brain tumor location, its relationship with vascular and nervous structures and than to evaluate the lesion from a functional point of view, which it means to evaluate if it involves and compromise eloquent areas.

At the end of the pre operative approach, the proper surgical planning is the next step. Intra operatively, specific tools such us neuronavigation, fluorescence, brain mapping and monitoring etc, allow for a more accurate, complete and safe brain tumor removal.

Following, the pre operative neuroimaging studies and the intra operative managament are discussed in detail.

4 Pre operative neuro-radiological evaluation

The gold standard in detecting a brain glioma is magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Specific sequences include a volumetric T1-weighted, Gd-enhanced sequences, FLAIR sequences, and T2-weighted sequences [43]. Functional MRI (fMRI) has become a widely available clinical application for pre-surgical evaluation of functional areas prior to brain tumor surgery. It is a non-invasive brain-mapping tool to guide neurosurgical treatment decisions. The fMRI depicts functional networks involved in an investigated function such as a motor or language task. However, especially near the tumor mass, vascular changes can lead to a neurovascular uncoupling instead of the regular coupling and thereby produce false-negative fMRI results, making it unreliable for planning [44]. Although fMRI allow for cortical localization of neurological function, it is unable to delineate subcortical white matter tracts arising from or connecting relevant cortical areas.

In the past decade, pre-operative functional MRI and DTT became part of the clinical routine to decrease the surgical risk of tumors in eloquent brain areas, like motor, language, and visual cortex. In order to reduce the risk to damage the motor, or sensitive, or cognitive pathway, diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) tractography (DTT) is one of the most successful pre-operative examinations [45]. DTI is a MRI technique that measures water diffusion tensor in living tissues. DTI is sensitive to the diffusion of water molecules. In white matter, the principal direction of this diffusion corresponds with the main fibre orientation within a given voxel. DTT is a method based on diffusion tensor magnetic resonance imaging. With the use of this information, DTT is capable of depicting subcortical white matter tracts in vivo, which is not possible by conventional imaging. DTT algorithms can be divided into deterministic and probabilistic methods, the reliability of which has been previously validated by dissection studies [44, 45]. Probabilistic tractography provides the possibility to investigate probabilistic connectivity of different brain areas; thus, it can identify the subcortical nuclei based on their cortical connections [46]. By determining individual anatomy and identifying the dislocation of thalamic nuclei, surgery can be planned to target the core of the tumor, which may be safer and more effective than surgical resection planned according to the results of conventional MRI. The pre-surgical DTT of the corticospinal tract and its inclusion in the neuronavigation system lead to a larger EOR and to an improved overall functional status.

4.1 Brain surgery guided by Fluorescence and Neuronavigation

Fluorescence guided surgery (FGS) has revolutionized the neurosurgical treatment of brain tumors over the past decade. The use of 5-ALA (5-Aminolevulinic acid) and FGS in patients with gliomas was described in 1998 [47]. 5-ALA allows intra-operative visualization of the tumor bulk in addition to the surrounding zone of tumor infiltration present in malignant gliomas. 5-ALA-induced fluorescence supports the neurosurgeon, during tumor resection, with real-time information for differentiating tumor from normal tissue in a way that is independent of neuronavigation and brain shift. 5-ALA is a precursor of the Heme synthesis pathway, which leads to the production of protoporphyrin IX (PpIX). This is a molecule that emits fluorescence when excited by appropriately filtered light. Under blue-violet light excitation, PpIX emits light in the red region of the visible spectrum, enabling identification of tumor tissue that would otherwise be difficult to distinguish from adjacent normal brain tissue. Fluorescence-guided surgery with 5-ALA allows the identification of tumor tissue with great accuracy, but only on the surface of the surgical cavity; to categorize an area as 5-ALA positive, it is necessary to expose and evaluate it in blue light [47-49].

In other words, 5-ALA does not allow a complete overview of the tumor; for example, 5-ALA cannot show a residual mass if its surface is not directly exposed [50, 51]. Neuronavigation allows the use pre-operatively acquired images such as those provided by CT, MRI, functional MRI, and DTI to achieve orientation in the surgical field. Neuronavigation is extremely helpful in finding the tumor and the surrounding neurovascular structures, but it is affected by brain shift and brain deformation that progressively degrade the information during surgery [52].

4.2 Intraoperative elettrophisiological mapping and monitoring

The concept of the brain connectomics has revolutionized glioma surgery in eloquent hemispheres thus, only the functional mapping could be considered the primary method for determining tumor resectability [53, 54]. Indeed, if direct electrical stimulation (DES) demonstrates no functional localization within the tumor, or within portions of the tumor, then resection is performed within the context of maximal safe resection. Thus, lesions viewed by some physicians as "inoperable" or "unresectable" based on imaging studies may very well be amenable to resection with the use of DES [53, 54]. Intra-operative localization of eloquent cortex may be achieved through cortical electrical stimulation in awake patients and somatosensory evoked potential (SEP) phase reversal technique in sedated patients. The technique uses discrete cortical electrical stimulation and remains the gold standard because it can be used to localize a variety of eloquent cortical areas (sensory, motor, and language areas) [53]. Its use, however, requires an awake patient. The SEP phase-reversal technique is mainly useful for localizing the central sulcus, usually around the upper limb somatosensory focus. While other non-invasive, pre-surgical modalities such as functional MRI, TMS, magnetoencephalography, and diffusion tractography may become increasingly useful adjuncts for localizing eloquent areas and pre-operatively assessing surgical risk, intra-operative DES is currently the most accurate, and robust method available for identifying functional brain tissue. While tractography is helpful here for defining white matter pathways and guiding the use of subcortical DES, resection limits should be ultimately defined by DES alone [55].

4.3 Intra operative CT, MRI and CEUS

Intraoperative MRI and CT (iMRI and iCT) overcome brain shift and brain deformation and offer high spatial resolution and a wide field of view, but they are expensive as well as time- and space-consuming [56].

Additionally, it is not possible to operate under direct imaging guidance; consequently they cannot be considered real-time intra-operative imaging modalities. Intraoperative ultrasound (iUS) has been used in neurosurgery since the early 1980s, and over the years a lot of applications have been reported. iUS is truly a real-time, dynamic technique that offers a good temporal and spatial resolution [57]. Its high spatial resolution allows accurate tissue differentiation, which has been shown to improve the EOR in glioma surgery. Contrast-enhanced US (CEUS) is an iUS modality that uses an ultrasound contrast agent (UCA) to improve the contrast between tumor, healthy tissue, and artefacts. CEUS can highlight all glial tumors, particularly GBMs, with a specific contrast enhancement, which also allows their characterization and visualization in the surgical volume. It can overcome the neuronavigation limitations and may highlight fluorescent tumor areas hidden by brain collapse [57-59].

CHAPTER 5: THE CHAPERONOLOGY

5 Molecular chaperones: locales of residence, functions, and roles during tumorigenesis

Molecular chaperones are an important class of molecules with various functions that can be expressed intra- and extracellularly. These moleculae are components of the chaperoning system (CS), an organism together with co-chaperones, chaperone co-factors, and chaperone receptors and interactors [64, 65]. They are conserved during evolution and their main function is the maintenance of protein homeostasis by assisting in the folding of client polypeptides, refolding of partially denatured proteins, and degradations of proteins damaged beyond repair [60]. The main partners of the chaperoning system in the maintenance of protein homeostasis (i.e., the canonical functions) are the ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS) and the chaperone-mediated autophagy (CMA) machinery, whereas the major partner for non-canonical functions is the immune system (IS).

Heat shock proteins (Hsps) are are a group of intracellular proteins induced by different stressors, such as heat shock, hypoxia, ischemia, heavy metal or ethanol exposure, and infections [63, 66]. These proteins can be also called molecular chaperons, although not all molecular chaperons are Hsps. They can be classified according to their molecular weight, as follows: Super heavy, 100, 90, 70, 60, 40, small Hsp (sHsp), including chaperones within the following ranges in kDa: 100 or higher, 81-99, 65-80, 55-64, 35-54, and 34 or lower, respectively [64, 65]. As chaperons moleculae, they are involved in various physiological mechanisms in normal cells, such as DNA replication, gene expression regulation, participation in immune system regulation [68, 69] and cell differentiation [70].

CS and IS are normally in a stable equilibrium in order to maintain a proteins homeostasis. When this interaction is altered for chaperon mutation or chaperon overexpression or specific post-translational modification, pathologic conditions such as chronic inflammatory or autoimmune disorders, or even cancer progression and metastasization, may occur [63, 67].

Few studies have evaluated the relationship between human tumors and Hsps and there is evidence of a positive correlation between Hsps levels and tumour progression. HSP60 is over expressed in some human brain cancers, in particular in glioblastoma, and it is responsible of a cytoprotective effect that involves stabilization of survivin levels and restraint of p53 function [50]. High expression of HSP60 was detected in high-grade gliomas and also in meningiomas [51, 52]. Other chaperons moleculae, such as HSP40 (DnaJ), HSP70, and HSP90 were found elevated in all brain tumours [134-136]. In glioblastoma, as well as in other cancers, a positive correlation has emerged between high expression of Hsps and the triggering of the invasive and metastatic potentials of glioma cells [33, 137]. Indeed, high levels of some Hsps in various types of cancer, usually indicate a protective effect for tumoral cells against therapy-induced apoptosis and lead to a poor prognosis in terms of survival rate and response to therapy, since they may confer a multi-drug resistance [16, 63, 71, 72, 85, 86].

Brain tumor tissue studied by Western Blot and Immunohistochemistry (IHC) showed a marked increase in the constitutive expression of HSP27, HSP90, GRP 78 and 75, and HSP70, and the co-chaperone HSPBP1 [138-142, 143,145-147]. Experimental *in vivo* tumors grown from glioma cell lines express HSP27 and HSP70 at high levels [141, 148]. HSP27, HSP60, HSP70, and HSP90, namely the Hsps overexpressed in glioma cells, can all be released via exosomes [149].

It is likely that extracellular Hsps participate in immune system stimulation or, on the other hand, they may favour tumor escaping from immune reaction [64, 65, 77, 94].

The role of HSP60 on gliomagenesis is still poorly understood, although it has been established that it is differentially expressed in glioblastoma cell lines [149, 150]. Depletion of HSP60 in *in vivo* models of GBM WHO grade IV, leads to the intracranial tumor regression [100]. HSP60 upregulates various pathways that provide survival benefits to malignant cells, bypassing apoptosis and/or senescence [125], and probably the chaperonin regulates the miRNAs pathway too. Increase or decrease in the levels of HSP60 and the pathophysiological significance of these quantitative variations seem to be dependent on the site in which the chaperonin resides [133]. In normal cells, cytosolic HSP60 has a pro-apoptotic role, it binds pro-caspase3 allowing its activation [152]. In tumor cells, HSP60 does not activate the caspase pathway assuring malignant cell survival and, thus, contributes to tumorigenesis [153] playing an anti-apoptotic role [154]. It has been observed that extracellular HSP60 can mediate apoptosis via its ligand (e.g., Toll-like receptor 4), causing a pro-survival effect in glial cells [155]. HSP60 is also involved in microglial activation leading to over proliferation under abnormal conditions [155]. It is possible that glioma cells use exosomes to release HSP60 [156] and other Hsps as a means to modulate the immune system and to release miRNAs molecules, targeting Hsp gene sequences, for example. This would results in a modulation of gene expression in the target cells, determining a modification of the tumour microenvironment and favouring tumour dissemination (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 Chaperones and exosomes from glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) cells are central and conspicuous players in patients and constitute attractive targets for therapeutics along with pertinent conspicuous players in patients and constitute attractive targets for therapeutics along with pertinent miRNAs. The figure presents the elements that provide the foundations for research toward the development of new therapies and summarizes the main thesis of this review, as a proposal for future development of new therapies and summarizes the main thesis of this review, as a proposal for future research, since various points are still under scrutiny. GBM cells differentially express various Hsps, which play pivotal roles in chemoresistance, apoptosis escape, invasiveness, and cell migration (shown in the top right inset). Hsps also occur extracellularly, free or in exosomes released by GBM cells carrying these proteins and miRNAs. Exosomes with their cargo would participate in the modulation of the immune system and in the regulation of gene expression in the target cells, and would modify the tumor microenvironment, ultimately favoring tumor dissemination, for instance, through the blood–brain barrier. The challenge consists in manipulating these elements to use them as therapeutic agents.

5.1 miRNAs: intracellular localization, functions, and roles during tumorigenesis

It has been largerly demonstrated that alteration of the gene expression regulation, including chaperons genes, represent an important mechanism favouring tumorigenis and cell metastization.

There is a large number of non-coding nucleic acids (i.e., they do not encode proteins) which have different structures and which act as key regulators of gene expression in many different cellular pathways and locales which have a complex role in patho-physiological mechanisms, that nowadays is more clear [73-76]. Non-coding RNAs are a large group of RNAs that contains subgroups with different functions. They are classified based on the molecular length, as follows: non-coding RNAs with more 200 nucleotides in length are "long" non-coding RNAs (lncRNA), while those with less than 200 nucleotides are the "small" non-coding RNAs (sncRNAs). lncRNAs appear to be epigenetic regulators affecting at various levels protein-coding gene expression. sncRNAs seem to be involved in different key cellular activities, including development and differentiation, transcriptional and post-transcriptional gene silencing, all functions that seem to be determined by the subcellular localization [77]. sncRNAs include various different small RNAs, such as microRNAs (miRNAs), small nucleolar RNAs (snoRNAs), and piwi-interacting RNAs (piRNAs) [78]. miRNAs recognize target RNAs and play a key role in modulating gene expression in a sequence-specific manner [79-80].

Most microRNAs are transcribed by RNA polymerase II under the control of various transcription factors, as long transcripts characterized by a complex hairpin structure (pri-miRNA) and are processed in the nucleus by a RNase III, named Drosha, to generate the microRNAs precursors (pre-miRNA) with a length of 70-100 nucleotides. These precursors are exported from the nucleus to the cytoplasm, in which they undergo further maturation mediated by another RNase III (Dicer), generating a double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) of 22 nucleotides. This dsRNA is subsequently incorporated in a protein complex, known as RISC (RNA-induced silencing complex), which promotes the formation of single-stranded mature molecules. In the RISC protein complex, mature miRNAs are able to pair with complementary sequences present in the 3'-UTR region of mRNAs and to regulate gene expression at the post-transcriptional level. miRNAs may induce mRNA degradation or blockage of translation without mRNA degradation, depending on the complementarity of the bases between the miRNA and its target site [81].

The involvement of miRNA in tumorigenesis was first documented in the majority of B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukaemias (B-CLL). In these tumors miRNAs miR-15a and miR-16a gene sequences were deleted or down-regulated [82].

Since this evidence, many studies pointed out on association between genomic position of miRNAs and the cancer-related genomic regions, accompanied by miRNAs overexpression/downregulation that resulted in transcriptional control and epigenetic changes and in defects in the miRNA biogenesis machinery [83-85].

The mechanism of miRNAs dysregulation in cancer involves amplification or deletion of their genes, abnormal expression of transcriptional factors that regulate miRNAs expression or [82, 84, 86] epigenetic alterations, i.e., aberrant DNA methylation and histone acetylation of miRNAs genes [87] and defects in enzymes involved in the miRNAs maturation steps [88].

The identification of different expression profiles of miRNAs in the neoplastic tissue compared with its normal counterpart supports the hypothesis of their involvement in tumor development and progression, including evasion of apoptosis, and also induction of cell migration, epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT), and angiogenesis [89, 90]. miRNAs expression in different tumor-cell types (lung, breast, stomach, prostate, colon, and pancreas) was found distinctive of tumor type, suggesting a definite role of miRNA in human tumorigenesis and indicating that miRNA expression is specific for tumor cell and could be used for tumor classification, diagnosis, and assessing prognosis [91].

The cellular site where miRNA-mediated post-transcriptional regulation occurs, is not clear. It has been shown that Argonaute (AGO) protein-miRNA complex is present in cellular organelles, including endoplasmic reticulum, Golgi apparatus, lysosomes, and endosomes [92-94]. miRNAs have been found in different cellular fractions and in the extracellular environment into which they would be secreted by passive and/or active mechanisms, for example by loading them on the extracellular vesicles, such as exosomes [95]. In the passive mechanism, miRNA secretion would be driven by the natural affinity of the nucleotide sequences with lipid-rafts [96], whereas the active mechanisms (regulated secretion) would be due to translocation into microvesicles that act as signal transporters and mediate distant cell-cell communication [97].

Numerous studies have shown the presence of miRNAs within the exosomes and that the variation of the intracellular amounts of individual miRNAs was reflected within the exosomes [98]. It seems plausible that miRNAs released with the exosomes from cancer cells are able to alter gene expression in surrounding and far away tissues and thereby contribute to the progression of tumors [99]. Currently, the mechanism of miRNA sorting into the exosomes is still poorly understood.

5.2 Exosomes: nanovectors for extracellular chaperones and miRNAs

Exosomes are endosomal extracellular small particles of 20-100 nm in diameter that can be secreted by virtually all cell types. Exosomes play an important role in cell-cell communication, exchanging information with the aim to maintain cellular homeostasis [100, 101,102]. The mechanism of exosomes secretion is quite complex. Multivescicular bodies (MVBs) incorporate early endosomes and, after a maturation process, a change in the molecular composition of the vescicels occurs, becoming intraluminal vesicles (ILVs). The vesicles in the MVBs, during this maturation process merge with the lysosomes, which cause degradation of their contents (e.g., in the case of receptors); or constitute a temporary storage compartment; or they may blend with the plasma membrane, releasing exosomes. In brief, MVBs merge with the plasma membrane, resulting in exocytosis of the vesicles contained in MVBs, i.e., exosomes [103-104]. Exosomes are also present in body fluids such as blood; urine; breast milk; saliva; bronchoalveolar lavage; and cerebrospinal, ascitic, and amniotic fluids [101]. Exosomes have specific, cell-type dependent contents. Various functions have been attributed to exosomes, depending on the source cell and its contents. For instance, exosomes are involved in cell-to-cell information transfer [105], inflammation [106], coagulation [107], stem cell activation [108], programmed cell death [109], and in the immune response [106].

It seems plausible that the exosomes' composition depends on the parental cells contents, including lipids; nucleic acids, such as DNA, non-coding RNA (e.g. ribosomal RNA [rRNA], and miRNAs); and proteins. Different sets of proteins are found in exosomes, some strictly involved in vesicle trafficking, such as cell surface receptors; others pertaining to the endocytic pathway (i.e., endosomal sorting complex required for transport, ESCRT, such as Alix; tumor susceptibility gene 101, TSG101; integrin; and tetraspanins); and still other proteins involved in long distance communication, such as cytokines [110], hormones [111], growth and transcription factors [112], and Hsps [113, 114].

It has been demonstrated that HSP60, HSP70, and HSP90 are secreted by cancerous cells via the exosome pathway [16, 113]. Exosomal Hsps may have opposite effects: immunosuppressing or immunostimulating, depending on the interaction between exosomal Hsps and cells of the immune system. For instance, HSP60, HSP70, and HSP90 α are actively secreted via the exosomal pathway, and mediate immunomodulatory effects and immune response against cancer cells [114, 115]. Extracellular HSP70 activates macrophages [116] and natural killer cells [117, 118], while HSP90 α , when released by invasive cancer cells via exosomes, enhances cancer cell migration [119].

Our research group provided, for the first time, the evidence of identification of HSP60 in exosomes. We explained as well the supposed mechanism by which the chaperonin is loaded onto exosomes, and its location in them [113, 120]. Under normal conditions, HSP60 acts as a molecular chaperone intracellularly but, in several pathological where it is overexpressed, it is released by both, the classical pathway and through exosomes. For example, in heart failure, HSP60 is secreted by cardiomyocytes and its presence in the serum correlates with disease severity and cardiovascular risk [119, 121]. HSP60 is released by adult cardiomyocytes via the exosome pathway in both, the basal state and following mild stress [122]. On the other hand, fibrosarcoma cells release HSP60 through the conventional endoplasmic reticulum-Golgi protein transport pathway [123].

In *in vivo* studies, our research group studied the levels of HSP60 on blood sample of patients affected by bowel cancer, before and after tumor removal. The exosomal HSP60 levels in the plasma of patients before colon cancer surgery were significantly higher than in the exosomes from the same patients after tumor ablation [16]. HSP60 exportation by exosomes, which would undergo post-translational modifications [124], points to roles of this chaperonin in inflammation, immune system modulation, and regulation of tumor microenvironment and growth. Therefore, exosomal HSP60 may contribute to the regulation of gene expression in target cells at distant sites (reviewed in [125]).

Exosomes can be vector not only for HSPs by also for miRNA. Their expression in exosomes, indeed, suggest a regulatory activity on gene expression in recipient and donor cells, and horizontal transfer of genetic information [126,127].

The mechanism by which miRNAs are loaded on to exosomes remains unclear. It is debated whether miRNA molecules are specifically charged onto exosomes, or incorporated passively, as result of mutual affinity between repeated RNA sequences and lipid rafts. As is known, during maturation the miRNA-protein complex (miRISC) is incorporated in late endosomes and subsequently in exosomes, but certain exosomal miRNAs are independent of miRISC [92]. On the other hand, specific sequences present in certain miRNAs may guide their incorporation onto exosomes [128], a possibility supported by the finding that exosomes from diverse sources, including several human body fluids, contain only one copy of a given abundant miRNA because much more copies would be expected from random sampling. This suggests a tightly regulated sorting mechanism that has yet to be clarified. The number of molecules that are loaded within exosomes and whether they can actually determine a modulation of gene expression in the recipient cells are still under study.

In conclusion, it has been shown by various researchers [128-131], that specific mechanisms for miRNAs sorting into secreted vesicles do exist, and that the specifically sorted molecules depend on the translational status in source cells.

It seems plausible that potentially specific miRNAs encapsulated in exosomes can educate the recipient cells, representing an important pathophysiologic event in long distance cell-cell communication. In this regard, it has to be highlighted that miRNAs are preserved in a stable form inside the exosome, in which they are protected from endogenous RNase activity.

CHAPTER 6: AIM OF THE THESIS

This thesis is part of the project, approved by the local ethics Committee of the University Hospital of Palermo and called: "Chaperons moleculae in brain tumors-CHAMOBRAT TRIAL". This project has the goal to research expression of HSP60 and miRNA related levels in tumor and peritumoral cells of primary brain tumors *in vivo* and in circulating exosomes on blood samples before and after ablative surgery.

In order to evaluate the role of HSP60 in brain tumor, in this thesis the experimental design was developed as follow:

1. Evaluation of HSP60 protein level and miRNAs-related in brain tissues;

2. Isolation and characterization of plasmatic exosomes from patients with brain tumor before and after ablative surgery;

3. Evaluation of HSP60 protein level and miRNAs-related in plasmatic exosomes from patients with brain tumor before and after ablative surgery.

Following each phase of the study is described step by step.

Material and Methods

1 Patient selection and enrollment

In our study, after approval by the local ethics Committee, subjects were recruited at the Division of Neurosurgery of the University Hospital of Palermo, in period ranging between December 2015 and October 2018. Written informed consent was obtained from each subject. Following, the Table 1 describes the type of pathology and the follow up for each patient.

In the period from December 2015 and October 2018 a total of 64 patients, affected by different brain lesions were studied. However, among 64 patients only 33 subjects were enrolled in the research and studied over time. Indeed, since our aim was not only to identify HSP60 levels and miRNA related levels on pathological tissue sample, but also to monitor the disease over time and to verify any potential matches between the recurrency of the tumor on the clinico-radiological evaluation and on the molecular analysis, we decided to select only tumors keen on recurrency, such as gliomas and atypical meningiomas. Patients affected by meningioma WHO grade I, were as well enrolled.

Indeed, in these patients, brain surgery provides a complete and definitive cure of the disease. Monitoring HSP60 levels over time in these patients, could be useful to verify if the molecular profile was in agreement with the benign prognosis of the Meningioma WHO grade I.

A total of 33 brain surgeries were performed and blood sample and pathological tissue sample were taken from patient on the day of the surgery. For each patient, the blood samples were collected at different time points, at the time of surgery (Before Surgery, BS), at one week (After Surgery 1, AS1), one month (After Surgery, AS2) and three months after surgery (After Surgery, AS3). A Clinic-Radiological analysis was also performed: most of the patient underwent a neurological assessment every day till the discharge, afterwards, at one and three months. Moreover, a brain MRI post gadolinium at one week and three months from the discharge was performed in order to verify possible matches between the blood sample analysis and the radiological exam.

Pt. No	Name	Age	Sex	Type of Lesion	1°Sample T0 (blood	2 Sample T1 (one	3 Sample T2 (one	4 Sample T3 (three	Notes
					and path tissue)	week)	month)	months)	
NCH01	D. M.	28/04/1948	F	Anaplastic astrocytoma, NOS	02/04/2015	14/04/2015			
NCH02	V. A.	24/02/1946	F	Transitional meningioma (WHO I)	09/07/2015			26/11/2015	23/05/2016 (6 months)
NCH03	C. E.	03/01/1939	F	Neuroblastoma	15/09/2015		11/11/2015 25/11/2015		Dead
NCH04	Т. Р.	04/07/1956	М	Transitional meningioma with aspects of Atipycal	13/11/2015		03/05/2016 18/07/2016		Recurrence 26.06.17
				meningioma			26/06/2017		Dead
NCH5	D. M. L.	13/05/1983	F	GBM (WHO IV)	02/12/2015		14/01/2016		16/05/2016
NCH6	Т. Р.	15/01/1951	F	GBM WHO IV	12/01/2016	20/01/2016			Dead
NCH7	A.G.	22/5/1951	М	Neurofibroma	29/01/2016	05/02/2016		13/05/2016	
NCH8	G. M.	07/04/1962	М	Atipycal meningioma (WHO II)	04/03/2016	16/03/2016		10/06/2016	
NCH9	V. F. C.	23/03/1968	F	Not diagnostic	16/03/2016	29/03/2016	13/05/2016		
NCH10	G. S.	03/01/1953	М	GBM (WHO IV)	24/03/2016	30/03/2016		20/07/2016	
NCH11	S. A.	26/12/1986	F	Transitional Meningioma (WHO I)	30/05/2016	09/06/2016	18/07/2016		09/12/2016

D: N			0						
Pt. No	Name	Age	Sex	Type of Lesion	1°Sample T0 (blood and path tissue)	2 Sample T1 (one week)	3 Sample T2 (one month)	4 Sample T3 (three months)	Notes
NCH12	LC. G.	26/10/1961	F	Atipycal Meningioma (WHO II)	10/10/2016	14/10/2016			
NCH13	LC. D.	10/12/1939	М	GBM (WHO IV)	10/11/2016	21/11/2016			
NCH14	G. T.	05/10/1951	М	Meningioma (WHO II)	07/02/2016	13/02/2016			
NCH15	M.R.	04/06/1960	М	GBM (WHO IV)	20/04/2017	27/04/2017	25/05/2017	05/07/2017	
NCH16	G. G.	02/01/1955	М	GBM (WHO IV)	12/07/2017	18/07/2017			07/12/2017 Recurrence October 2018
NCH17	T. A. C.	03/02/1960	F	Transitional Meningioma (WHO I)	25/07/2017	31/07/2017			14/12/2017
NCH18	S. E.	25/07/1955	М	GBM (WHO IV)	18/07/2017		07/08/2017		Recurrence August 2018
NCH19	G. G.	10/04/1942	М	Transitional Meningioma (WHO I)	20/07/2017	27/07/2017			
NCH20	C. G.	14/07/1945	М	Transitional Meningioma (WHO I)	31/07/2017	07/08/2017			
NCH21	F. R.	02/11/1967	F	Transitional Meningioma (WHO I)	05/04/2018	NO	22/05/2018	22/07/2018	
NCH22	S. F.	17/01/1967	М	GBM (WHO IV)	08/05/2018	16/05/2018	21/06/2018	21/08/2018	
NCH23	B. K.	01/01/1981	F	GBM (WHO IV)	22/05/2018	25/05/2018	22/06/2018	22/08/2018	
NCH24	M. D.	13/02/1965	М	GBM (WHO IV)	28/06/2018	03/07/2018	30/07/2018	04/10/2018	
NCH25	Z. M.	16/04/1938	М	Transitional Meningioma (WHO I)	29/06/2018	03/07/2018	30/07/2018	NO	

Pt. No	Name	Age	Sex	Type of lesion	1°Sample T0 (blood and path tissue)	2 Sample T1 (one week)	3 Sample T2 (one month)	4 Sample T3 (three months)	Notes
NCH27	S. E.	25/07/1955	М	GBM (WHO IV)	16/07/2018	20/07/2018	NO		
NCH28	С. Р.	19/02/1948	F	Transitional Meningioma (WHO I)	16/09/2018	19/09/2018	22/10/2018		
NCH29	M. A.	16/10/1971	F	Emangioblastoma	19/09/2018	24/09/2018	12/10/2018		
NCH30	M. M.	23/04/1956	F	GBM (WHO IV)	16/10/2018	22/10/2018			
NCH31	G. G.	6/03/1951	М	Transitional Meningioma (WHO I)	16/10/2018	22/10/2018			
NCH32	DF. G.	15/11/1962	М	GBM (WHO IV)	22/10/2018				
NCH33	DL. G.	12/04/1953	М	GBM (WHO IV)	25/10/2018				

Table 1: Table showing patients enrolled in the study and the follow up exams.
2 Specimen collection

As said before, blood was collected from each patients recruited and it was processed for serum isolation. Then the serum samples were stored at -80° C until processing. The histological specimens were fixed in formalin, embedded in paraffin and cut in 5 µm size sections, which will be used for immunostaining

3 Histological analysis and Immunohistochemistry

For histological analysis, the samples fixed in formalin and embedded in paraffin, were sectioned with a thickness of 5 μ m with a cutting microtome. These sections were dewaxed in xylene for 10 minutes and rehydrated by sequential immersion in a descending scale of alcohols and transition in water for five minutes. The sections were then stained with hematoxylin and eosin, mounted with coverslips and finally, observed with an optical microscope (Leica DM 5000 B) connected to a digital camera (Leica DC 300F).

Immunohistochemistry was performed on 5 µm thick sections of paraffin-embedded tissue. The sections were dewaxed in xylene for 30 min at 60°C and rehydrated, at room temperature, by sequential immersion in a graded series of alcohols and transferred into water for five minutes. Subsequently, the sections were immersed for 8min in Sodium Citrate Buffer (pH 6) at 95°C for antigen retrieval and, subsequently, immersed for 8min in acetone at -20°C to prevent the detachment of the sections from the slide. All subsequent reactions were conducted at room temperature. After a wash with PBS (Phosphate Buffered Saline pH7.4) for 5min, the sections were treated for 5min with Peroxidase Quencing Solution (reagent A of Histostain®-Plus 3rd Gen IHC Detection Kit, Invitrogen) to inhibit any endogenous peroxidase activity. Another washing with PBS for 5min was carried out and the sections were treated with a blocking protein (reagent B of Histostain®-Plus 3rd Gen IHC Detection Kit, Invitrogen) for 10min to block non-specific antigenic sites. Subsequently, the sections were incubated overnight, with a primary antibody against human Hsp60 (mouse anti-Hsp60 monoclonal antibody, Sigma, St. Louis, MO, catalogue no. H4149, dilution 1:400). Appropriate positive and negative controls, were run concurrently. After a wash with PBS (Phosphate Buffered Saline pH7.4) for 5min, the sections were incubated with a universal biotinylated secondary antibody (Biotinylated Secondary Antibody reagent C Histostain®-Plus 3rd Gen IHC Detection Kit, Invitrogen) for 10min. After a subsequent washing with PBS for 5min, the sections were incubated with streptavidin-peroxidase complex (Streptavidin-Peroxidase Conjugate reagent D Histostain®-Plus 3rd Gen IHC Detection Kit, Invitrogen) for 10min, and following a further washing in PBS for 5min, the slides were incubated in the dark for 5min with the DAB chromogen (diaminobenzidine) (DAB chromogen reagents E1 and E2 Histostain®-Plus 3rd Gen

IHC Detection Kit, Invitrogen). Nuclear counterstaining was carried out using hematoxylin (Hematoxylin aqueosus formula, N. Cat. S2020, DAKO). Finally, the slides were prepared for observation with coverslips with an aqueous mounting solution. The observation of the sections was performed with an optical microscope (Leica DM 5000 B) connected to a digital camera (Leica DC 300F).

4 MicroRNAs extraction from paraffin embedded tissue and Real Time PCR

Formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded tissues were sectioned at 10 µm, two thick sections were used for RNA isolation and were placed in 1.5 mL microcentrifuge tube DNase/RNase free, to avoid the nucleic acid degradation. Samples were dewaxed with xylene and rehydrated with alcohol scale at room temperature and in agitation. Then pellets were treated with Triazol to lysis tissues, following the manufacturing instruction (miRNeasy Mini Kit®, Qiagen, Hilden, Germany, Cat No: 74104). Briefly, tissue samples were homogenized in QIAzol Lysis Reagent and after addition of chloroform, the homogenate was separated into aqueous and organic phases by centrifugation. RNA partitions to the upper, aqueous phase, while DNA partitions to the interphase and proteins to the lower, organic phase or the interphase. The upper, aqueous phase was extracted, and ethanol was added to provide appropriate binding conditions for all RNA molecules from 18 nucleotides (nt) upwards. The samples were then applied to the RNeasy Mini spin column, where the total RNA binds to the membrane and phenol and other contaminants are efficiently washed away. Then, miRNAs were enriched in a separate fraction through the RNeasy MinElute® Cleanup Kit. Finally, RNA was dissolute in 50µl of RNase/DNase-free H₂O and was determined using Thermo Scientific NanoDrop ND-2000 1-position Spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific Massachusetts, USA).

The miRNA profiling from our samples had required the following 3 steps: reverse transcription using the miScript II RT Kit (Qiagen, Cat No: 218161), preamplification using the miScript PreAMP PCR Kit (Qiagen) and miScript PreAMP Primer Mix (Qiagen), because the starting materials contain low RNA amounts. Finally, quantification by real-time PCR was performed using the miScript SYBR Green PCR Kit (Qiagen). For the reverse-transcription reaction 20 ng of miRNA-enriched RNA were added to 5X miScript HiSpec Buffer, 10X miScript Nucleics Mix, RNase-free water and miScript Reverse Transcriptase Mix and incubate for 60 min at 37°C, the for 5 min at 95°C to inactivate miScript Reverse Transcriptase Mix. The, cDNA generated was preamplificated using the miScript PreAMP PCR Kitand miScript PreAMP Primer Mix prior to miRNA profiling, as described follow. 5 µl of diluted cDNA were added to 5X miScript PreAMP Buffer, HotStarTaq DNA Polymerase, miScript PreAMP Primer Mix (containing the primers: miR-1, miR-206, miR-663, and controls: miR-16, U6 e SNORD45), RNase-free water and miScript

PreAMP Universal Primer, following the manufacturer instruction. Reactions were performed using a PCR Initial activation step (15 min 95°C) to active HotStarTaq DNA Polymerase and 2-step cycling set up of a denaturation step (30 sec 94°C) and an annealing/extension step (3 min 60°C) for 12 cycles. The preaplificated cDNA template was profiling using miScript SYBR® Green PCR Kit (Qiagen) and thermal cycles were performed using the Rotor-geneTM 6000 Real-Time PCR Machine (Qiagen).

5 Blood sample collection and exosomes isolation

Exosomes were isolated from plasma as summarized in Figure 2. Blood samples of 20 patients (drawn one day prior to, and one week after surgical removal of the tumor) were treated with EDTA and centrifuged at 4000 x g for 20 minutes to separate the plasma and then centrifuged at 11000 x g for 30 min to remove cell debris. The supernatant was diluted with PBS then filtered through a 0.2 μ m filter (Millex GP, Millipore), followed by 2 step ultracentrifugation at 110,000 x g for 2 hrs to pellet the exosomes. The exosomes were then washed in cold PBS and resuspended in 50 μ l of PBS.



Fig. 2 Procedure of Exosomes extraction

6 Exosomes assessment procedure

To further ascertain the identity of the exosomes obtained from the plasma of the blood samples, exosomal preparations were examined by Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM), Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM) and Dynamic Light Scattering (DLS). Furthermore, exosomes were tested for markers considered characteristic of exosomes (presence of Alix and Hsc70 proteins).

6.1 Transmission electron microscopy (TEM)

Pellets obtained by ultracentrifugation were resuspended in PBS with the addition of 100µl of freshly made fixative (2.5% glutaraldehyde in PBS) for 30 minutes. After fixation, the preparations were mounted on formvar nickel grids by layering grids over 10 ml drops of exosome preparations for 10 minutes at 24°C. Grid-mounted preparations were prepared for contrast staining by treating them with uranyl acetate (1%) for 5 minutes and with Reynolds' solution for 5 minutes and, finally, rinsing them eight times in distilled water for 2 minutes. After this procedure, the grids were ready for electron microscopy (JEOL JEM 1220 TEM at 120kV).

6.2 Atomic force microscopy (AFM)

Exosome pellets obtained by ultracentrifugation and resuspended in PBS were diluted in water; 50µl aliquots of the diluted samples were deposited on freshly cleaved mica and dried under mild vacuum. Tapping mode AFM images were acquired in air using a Multimode scanning probe microscopeand driven by a Nanoscope V controller (Digital Instruments, Bruker). Single beam uncoated silicon cantilevers (type OMCL-AC160TS, Olympus and TESPA_V2, Bruker) were used. The drive frequency was between 260 and 310kHz; the scan rate was 0.25–0.5Hz

6.3 Dynamic Light Scattering (DLS)

DLS measurements were performed using a Brookhaven Instrument BI200-SM goniometer. The temperature was controlled to within 24° C using a thermostated recirculating bath. The time autocorrelation functions (TCF) were measured by using a Brookhaven BI-9000 correlator and a 100 mW solid-state laser (Quantum-Ventus MPC 6000) tuned at $\lambda = 532$ nm. Measurements were taken at 90° scattering angle. All samples were filtered through 0.2 µm cellulose acetate (Millipore) syringe filters to remove gross contaminants.

7 Western Blotting Analysis

The assessment of exosome quality by identification of Alix, CD81 and Hsc70 proteins was performed by Western Blotting analysis carried out on the exosomes purified by ultracentrifugation. For the Western Blotting analyses, 50µg od exosomes protein were used, and the primary antibody used for Alix (mouse anti-Alix, 1A12 clone, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc, Santa Cruz, CA, USA, n° catalogue sc-53540) was diluted at 1:500; the one for Hsc70 (mouse anti-Hsc70, B-6 clone, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc, Santa Cruz, CA, USA, n° catalogue sc-53540) was diluted at 1:500; the one for Hsc70 (mouse anti-Hsc70, B-6 clone, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc, Santa Cruz, CA, USA, n° catalogue sc-7298) was diluted at 1:500; while the one for CD81 (mouse anti-CD81, B-11 clone, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc, Santa Cruz, CA, USA, n° catalogue: sc-166029) was diluted 1:1000.

A standard western blotting procedure was followed to separate protein using a 12% polyacrylamide gel (SDS-PAGE); in which equal amounts of protein (50 µg) were added to 10X Laemmli buffer and heated for 5 min at 95 °C. Therefore samples were loaded in each well and transferred onto a nitrocellulose membrane (BioRad, Milan, Italy). The membranes were stained with Ponceau S to verify the quality of transfer and loading similarity. After blocking with 5% albumin bovine serum (Sigma Aldrich), membranes, with the spotted proteins, were analyzed to measure the protein levels, probing with specific primary antibodies for 12 hours followed by incubation with horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody if necessary. The final detection was performed using the enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) detection system, Western Blotting Detection Reagent (Amersham Biosciences, GE Healthcare Life Science, Milan, Italy), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Membranes were then exposed to X-ray film from few second to 5 min and the film was analyzed. Densitometric analysis of the bands was evaluated and quantified using the NIH Image J 1.40 analysis program (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD). Each experiment was performed at least three times.

8 Western Blotting analysis of Hsp60 in exosomes

50µg of proteins from exosome preparations were used for western blotting analysis and a primary antibody for Hsp60 (mouse anti-HSP60, LK1 clone, Sigma-Aldrich) diluted at 1:2.000 was used to detect the presence of Hsp60 in plasma exosomes. The analysis was performed following the procedure described above.

9 microRNAs extraction from plasma exosomes and Real Time PCR

Exosomes obtained by ultracentrifugation were stored at -80°C until needed. Total RNA including small RNA was isolated from exosome samples using the miRNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer instructions, as described above. Reverse transcription was

performed using the miScript II RT kit and the miScript Reverse Transcriptase Mix according to the manufacturer's instructions. Complementary deoxyribonucleic acid (cDNA) was preamplified using the miScript PreAMP PCR Kit (Qiagen) qRT–PCR analysis was performed using the miScript SYBR Green PCR Kit (Qiagen) and the primers indicated in Table 2. miRNA were selected from the literature based on their previously reported association with Hsp60 expression and brain tumor correlation, miR-1, miR-206, miR-663. miRNA levels were normalized to that of U6, SNORD45 and miR-16 and changes in the transcript level were calculated using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ method². The PCR was carried out using the Rotor-geneTM 6000 Real-Time PCR Machine (Qiagen).

Name	Sequence
Hs_miR-1_2	5' UGGAAUGUAAAGAAGUAUGUAU
Hs_miR-206_1	5' UGGAAUGUAAGGAAGUGUGUGG
Hs_miR-663b_2	5' GGUGGCCCGGCCGUGCCUGAGG

Table 2. Primers used for qRT-PCR

Results and Discussion

Nowadays when we are dealing with a brain tumor, the neurosurgical approach includes a pre-operative clinical and neuro-radiological full assessment with gadolinium, and functional neuroimaging. In GBM WHO grade IV, the mainstay of treatment is the "sopramarginal" resection followed by radiation therapy and chemotherapy [10]. A crucial prognostic factor in oncological neurosurgery is the extent of resection (EOR). Several studies have addressed the importance of EOR in GBM surgery. In this effort, tumor visualization is a key factor to maximize the EOR. Numerous solutions exist: neuronavigation, fluorescence, and intraoperative imaging (MRI, CT, ultrasound) [4,7,11,13,48, 52].

Despite the improvement of current approaches for patient's treatment, the prognosis for GBM patients remains poor because of tumor genetic and phenotypic heterogeneity, multiple activation of key oncogenic pathways, acquired therapeutic resistance, and cytoprotective mechanisms in GBM cells.

Nowadays, the approach that takes into account the multifaceted role of molecular chaperones in tumorigensesis is increasingly acknowledged [61]. In the field of biomedical research, the "Chaperonology" studies molecular chaperones and the possible malfunctioning of them, which given rise to a variety of pathological conditions, known as chaperonopathies [62, 64, 65, 67]. As previously said, some chaperones have anti-apoptotic properties and have been found elevated intracellularly in many human cancers [101, 102].

Our research group has studied the chaperone HSP60 in detail and we have demonstrated the overexpression of this protein during human brain carcinogenesis [16, 114, 121, 126, 132]. Hsp60 can interact directly with molecules in various cell compartments and can also be found on the membrane surface of normal and tumour cells. HSP60 regulates proteins involved in apoptosis and cell cycle and when it is dysregulated it can promote cancer progression. HSP60 role in carcinogenesis depends on tumor-type and must be determined accordingly to the context of the tumor under consideration.

The goal of our research was to study the expression of HSP60 and miRNA related levels on primary brain tumors *in vivo* and in liquid biopsy (circulating exosomes) before and after ablative surgery. It has to be acknowledged that patients enrollment is still on going and the results that we are reporting are incomplete. Indeed, molecular results from patients affected by Meningioma WHO Grade I, are still in process, as well the results from the full follow up of other patients affected by

Menigioma Grade II and GBM WHO Grade IV. After the patient enrollment and the radiological investigations, in brief, we can divide our results in the following steps:

First Step: Histological and Immunohistochemical analysis of HSP60 in brain tissues

The evaluation of the immunohistochemical levels of HSP60 was performed on healthy cortical brain tissue derived from autopsy (A) and in tumor biopsies of high grade brain tumors: (B) Atypical Meningioma, (C) Glioblastoma multiform (GBM IV) (Fig 3). As approved by the local ethics Committee of the University Study of Palermo, the healty cortical brain tissue samples were taken from the hystopathological archives of the Forensic Medicine of the University Hospital of Palermo. Since the samples of healty cortical brain tissue derived from autopsy of subjects dead for causes non related to brain disease, they have been considered as the regular group control to asess the HSP60 level and compare it with the level of the same protein on pathological tissue samples, taken from the patients enrolled in the study. HSP60 immunopositivity was visible at cytoplasmic and membrane levels. The percentage of positive cells was calculated in 10 random high power fields (HPF) at a magnification of 400x, and was expressed as means. The immunohistochemical reactions show that HSP60 expression level increase gradually throughout the carcinogenic steps (Fig.3). Statistical analyses were carried out using the GraphPad Prism 4.0 package (GraphPad Inc., San Diego, CA, USA). Standard statistical analyses were employed to calculate the means of percentage positivity and the standard deviations (SD). Immunohistochemistry demonstrated increased levels of HSP60 in tumor samples compared with controls (Atypical meningioma: p<0.001 vs control; GBM IV p<0.05 vs controls). A strong diffuse cytoplasmic positivity for the HSP60 protein was present in 100% of the tumor specimens examined (bar 100µm).



Fig. 3 Immunohistochemical analysis showing the increase of HSP60 expression onmeningioma samples (B) and GBM (C) than in normal tissues (A) used as control.

Second step: HSP60 levels on exosomes from brain tumors

Exosome obtained from plasma of patient with atypical meningioma and GBM, before and after surgery, were analyzed by TEM and AFM, and we found that the size and the morphology of the obtained exosomes were those of typical exosomes (Fig. 4 A and B, representative TEM and AFM images). Furthermore, our exosomes preparations were analysed by Dynamic Light Scattering (DLS), that measures the size of each particle, by direct observation of scattered light and the particle motion (Fig. 4 D and E). We found that our vesicle populations have different size, depending on the time of follow up. In plasma of patient with atypical meningioma we find exosomes with size of 28.027 (S.D \pm 4.743) before surgery, 80.319 (S.D \pm 4.143) after 1 week from surgery, and 133.966 (S.D \pm 10.685).

In GBM plasma the exosomes size has a size distribution mean of 30 nm (S.D. $\pm 1.776-0.754$) without difference before and after surgery.

In addition, the results obtained with the measurements of Alix, Hsc70 and CD81 and protein content by WB analysis is also were typical of exosomes.



Fig. 4 In A micrography fromTEM (bar 100 nm) and in B AFM image (bar 200 nm) that show exosomes from perpheral blood. In C Western blot analysis for markers considered characteristic of exosomes. D and E panels show the number of exosomes and size respectively, for each preparation.

Part of exosomes isolated from plasma were dedicated to define the presence of HSP60 in patients affected by atypical meningiomas (WHO GII), transitional or meningotelial meningiomas (WHO GI) and glial tumors, mainly glioblastoma (WHO GIV). HSP60 was present in the exosomes, but at different levels in patients before surgery and after surgery (Fig.5). The levels of HSP60 in the exosomes of patients before surgery were significantly higher than in the exosomes from the same patients after surgery (7 days). This molecular data was also confirmed by the brain MRI results that showed the complete tumors removal. However, in few cases, we assisted a tumor recurrency. In particular, the pt NCH04, after two months from surgery, experienced an epileptic seizure. Thus, he underwent a brain CT scan and a brain post contrast MRI scan that depicted a tumor reccurrency (Fig.6). In the same period, patient underwent the follow up blood sample for the molecular analysis. This analysis showed a significant increase of HSP60 in the exosomes, thus confirming, from the molecular point of view, the tumor recurrency. This data may open up new frontiers in the diagnosis and follow up of these patients affected by atypical meningiomas since the HSP60 increase after the tumor removal could be related to the tumor recurrency, as in our data demonstrated. It could be advisable to perform this evaluation on more patients in order to have data statistically significant.



Fig 5 WB analysis: It shows the high level of exosomal HSP60 on blood sample at the time of surgery (BS), its decrease at one week from surgery (AS1) and its increase at two months after surgery (AS2).



Fig. 6 Brain MRI post gadolinum: axial cut. The frontotemporal meningioma recurrenceis depicted

The analysis of HSP60 level in exosomes from GBM patients doesn't show the any variation at different time from surgery (Fig.7). Indeed, HSP60 levels maintened high at any time of the follow up. The immediate post op brain MRI showed an apparent macroscopic tumour complete removal; however, since GBM is not a "curable" brain disease, after few months the brain MRI showed a tumor recurrency (Fig. 8).



Fig. 7 WB analysis: It shows the level of exosomal HSP60 on exosomes from patients with GBM. The analysis of HSP60 level in GBM patients not shown the any variation at different time from surgery.



Fig. 8 Brain MRI post gadolinum: axial cut. The temporopaietal brain glioma is depicted (on the left), after surgery (in the middle) and after three months (on the right).

Third step: HSP60 dependant miRNA expression on exosomes from brain tumors

To determine whether the surgical ablation of brain tumor alters miRNAs levels in circulating exosomes, we selected two miRNAs involved in Hsp60 regulation (miR1 and miR2016) and one known to be dysregulated in brain tumor (miR663). To aim this we employed RealTime PCR in three exosomes samples of Atypical Meningioma and four of GBM, to assess miRNAs changes at two time points: after 7 days and after 30 days surgery. We observed that miR1 is downregulated in exosomes isolated from plasma of patient with atypical meningioma after 7 days from surgery; instead, after 30 days miR1 is upregulated. MiR206 and miR663 are downregulated after 30 days surgery (Fig.9). Moreover, the HSP60 variation correlates positively with the miR1 expression. miR206 and miR663 are downregolated after 30 days from surger. In GBM, exosomal miR1 and miR663 do not shown significant differences between follow-up times; contrarily, miR206 is upregulated after 30 days surgery (Fig.10). We did not find any statistically significant correlations at this stage. It has been observed that miR206 is dawnregolated in pt affected by high grade gliomas than in patients affected by low grade gliomas). Moreover, the higher miR206 expression seems to correlate with higher servival rate. This data shoul be correlated to the gliomas IDH mutant

in order wto verify any mathes considering that also the IDH mutation is related to a better prognosis.



Fig. 9qPCR data showing miRNA HSP60 related levels analysis on atypical meningiomas



Fig. 10qPCR data showing miRNA HSP60 related levels analysis on high grade gliomas

Fourth step: Histological analysis of MiRNAs levels in tumor brain tissues

We isolated miRNAs from formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded tissues (four 10 μ m thick sections) using Triazol and miRNeasy Mini Kit[®]. qRT-PCR evaluation of tissue levels of miR1 and miR206 in high grade tumor brain and HC was assessed according to the Livak method 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ CT} (Fig 11).We observed a downregulation of miR1 (A) and miR206 (B) in atypical meningioma tissue and conversly an upregulation in GBM IV.



Fig. 11qRT-PCR evaluation: A downregulation of miR1 (A) and miR206 (B) in atypical meningioma tissue and conversly an upregulation in GBM IV is depicted.

Conclusions and Future Perspectives

Chaperonology is a scientific discipline that studies molecular chaperones and the pathological conditions in which chaperones may become pathological factors, known as chaperonopathies [61]. Chaperone therapy, or chaperonotherapy, involves the use of chaperones in the treatment of chaperonopathies [62, 63]. As demonstrated in literature, chaperons moleculae are implied in different physiological and pathological mechanisms and their overexpression or down regulation may be correlated with human brain tumor iniziation and progression. Among chaperons moleculae implied in brain cancirogenesis, our research group has studied in particular HSP60 and miRNA related proteins in patients affected by meningiomas and GBM WHO IV grade.

In patients affected by brain atypical meningioma WHO Grade II, we observed that HSP60 levels were elevated in circulating exosomes isolated from plasma before surgery and the levels were decreased after 7 days from surgery. The radiological post operative exam, showed a complete tumor removal and from the clinical point of view the patients were free from epileptic seizures, headache and other neurological defict. At that point the molecular, radiological and clinical evalutations, all togheter agreed for a complete cure from the brain disease. However, considering the biological behaviour of the atypical meningiomas, we followed up these patients over time, with clinical and radiological evaluations and as well with molecular analysis through the blood exam. In these patients, after 30 days, exosomal HSP60 levels were increased again and, in one case, patient experienced epileptic seizures and the brain MRI exam showed a large tumor recurrency thus patient underwent again a brain tumor removal. The HSP60 downregulation after 7 days surgery could be related with the tumor ablation and the upregulation after 30 days could be linked with the tumor recurrence. This is consistent as well with miRNAs level data.

In patients affected by GBM WHO Grade IV, conversely, in circulating exosomes we not observed any significant variations in HSP60 levels and in the expression of miRNAs considered. This behaviour could be linked to the infiltrating nature of GBM IV and to the well known impossibility to provide a complete tumor removal. Even though, this data needs to be supported by a larger population analysis, the results so far provided by our study seems reliable. It's acknowledged that brain GBM is not just a "tumor"; the infiltrative power of this entity is so high that neoplastic glial cells may disseminate even far away from the site where, from the neuroradiological exam, is supposted to born and grow the lesion. GBM grade IV tumors should be considered as a true brain disease that involve all the brain, and the radiological exams could not show the "Caput Medusa's" like cells infiltration. The devolepments in the neurosurgical armamentarium have been extremely important to favour a macroscopically "supramarginal", as nowadays encouraged, tumor removal, while preserving brain functions and so reducing morbidity rates. However, mortality rate, doesn't change, since, as the biomolecular analysis may demonstrate, the tumoral glial cells are still alive, spread somewhere in the brain, this is why HSP60 and miRNA related levels, remain high in the liquid biopsy after the surgery. The consideration of the results of the molecular analysis in these patients, not only confirm the GBM grade IV is a true brain disease, but could also have major implications in patient management.

Our study points out, also, on an intuition of our research group, that in brain tumor cells, HSP60, which was classically considered a mitochondrial protein, is secreted outside the cell by exosomes. According to different studies, the protein can be secreted into the extracellular matrix and in human peripheral blood it can be detected and it can determine immunosuppressive or immunostimulating effects. This is an intuiton that have important implications in the clinical follow up of our patients. Indeed, since these proteins can be detected on blood circulating exosomes, through a so called "liquid biopsy", it could be possible, in future, to enoroll in the normal pre operative patient blood examination, the molecular HSP60 analysis, that could be easily made even in small peripheral Hospitals.

The discovery that molecular chaperones can be determinant factors in the process of tumorigenesis and the increasing understanding and characterization of exosomes, particularly in what refers to their release by tumor cells and contents, including chaperones and miRNA, provide elements to develop novel treatment strategies and means.

Exosomal HSP60 and/or its regulators, have potential advantages as brain tumor biomarkers and in other cancer, as well. The challenge for the future will be to completely clarify the role of exosomal HSP60 in cancer and standardize quantitative tests measuring this chaperonin and regulators, with high sensitivity and relatively easy application, using routine blood samples collection. In addition, these non-invasive tests could provide information useful not only to assess the clinical status of the patient but also to determine whether or not surgery is indicated, and to evaluate the response to tumor ablation and/or to the administration of anticancer drugs.

There is currently sufficient information to consider molecular chaperones-Hsps, as HSP60, as promising biomarkers for early diagnosis and follow up of brain tumors and also as potential therapeutic targets in those cases in which the chaperone favours carcinogenesis and, therefore, the chaperone has to be blocked or eliminated (negative chaperonotherapy). Contrariwise, in those cases in which the chaperone fails to stop carcinogenesis due to deficient function, positive chaperonotherapy would be indicated, namely the defective chaperone should be boosted to restore its function or replaced (using gene therapy or direct administration of normal chaperone).

In conclusion, chaperones and their regulators, could represent potential first new biomarkers for primary brain tumor diagnosis, for improving diagnostic procedures, for patient stratification, for prognosis of disease outcome and for follow up over time tumor stability or recurrence. The addition of such novel approaches to the conventional treatment strategies and the characterization of the mechanisms involved in the Hsps influencing ECM and EMT will certainly aid in glioma management. It is possible that some Hsps are more specific for a tumor type while others might be so for other types. It follows that elucidation of Hsp-tumor specificity is a promising research line to standardize study protocols focusing on specific cases (personalized medicine) [137,138, 140].

Finally, it would be beneficial to start to look at the CNS tumors through the Chaperone Eye and consider at least some of these tumors to be chaperonopathies by mistake or collaborationism. Therefore, looking at tumors through the Chaperone Eye implies that patient examination should include qualitative and quantitative analyses of Hsps, including those in exosomes, before and after surgery and other treatments for monitoring disease evolution and response to treatment. This conduct will provide new insights on brain tumors that will enhance progress in clinical applications of chaperones and exosomes, including their use as therapeutic agents.

References

- Alifieris C, Trafalis DT. Glioblastoma multiforme: Pathogenesis and treatment Pharmacol Ther. 2015 Aug;152:63-82. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2015.05.005.
- Crocetti E, Trama A, Stiller C, Caldarella A, Soffietti R, Jaal J, Weber DC, Ricardi U, Slowinski J, Brandes A; RARECARE working group.Epidemiology of glial and non-glial brain tumours in EuropeEur J Cancer. 2012 Jul;48(10):1532-42. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2011.12.013. Epub 2012 Jan 7.
- Stupp R, Mason WP, van den Bent MJ, et al. Radiotherapy plus concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide for glioblastoma. N Engl J Med. 2005;352(10):987-996.
- 4. Stupp R, Hegi ME, van den Bent MJ, et al. Effects of radiotherapy with concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide versus radiotherapy alone on survival in glioblastoma in a randomised phase III study: 5-year analysis of the EORTCNCIC trial. Lancet Oncol. 2009;10(5):459-466.
- Ashby LS, Ryken TC. Management of malignant glioma: steady progress with multimodal approaches. Neurosurg Focus. 2006 Apr 15;20(4):E3
- Barbagallo GM, Paratore S, Caltabiano R, Palmucci S, Parra HS, Privitera G, Motta F, Lanzafame S, Scaglione G, Longo A, Albanese V, Certo F. Long-termtherapy with temozolomide is a feasibleoption for newly diagnosed glioblastoma: a single-institution experience with as many as 101 temozolomide cycles. Neurosurg Focus. 2014 Dec;37(6):E4. doi: 10.3171/2014.9.FOCUS14502.
- Sanai N, Berger MS Extent of resection influences outcomes for patients with gliomas. Rev Neurol (Paris). 2011 Oct;167(10):648-54. doi: 10.1016/j.neurol.2011.07.004. Epub 2011 Sep 7. Review.
- Chen L, Mao Y. Gross total resection plays a leading role in survival of patients with glioblastoma multiforme. World Neurosurg. 2014 Jul-Aug;82(1-2):e105-7. doi: 10.1016/j.wneu.2014.04.074. Epub 2014 May 5.
- Sughrue ME, Sheean T, Bonney PA, Maurer AJ, Teo C. Aggressive repeat surgery for focally recurrent primary glioblastoma: outcomes and theoretical framework. Neurosurg Focus. 2015 Mar;38(3):E11. doi: 10.3171/2014.12. FOCUS14726.
- 10. Sanai N, Polley MY, McDermott MW, Parsa AT, Berger MS: An extent of resection threshold for newly diagnosed glioblastomas. Clinical article. J Neurosurg 115:3–8, 2011
- Prada F, Bene MD, Fornaro R, Vetrano IG, Martegani A, Aiani L, Sconfienza LM, Mauri G, Solbiati L, Pollo B, DiMeco F. Identification of residual tumor with intraoperative contrast-

enhanced ultrasound during glioblastoma resection. Neurosurg Focus. 2016 Mar;40(3): E7. doi: 10.3171/2015.11.FOCUS15573.

- Zinn PO, Colen RR. Imaging genomic mapping in glioblastoma. Neurosurgery. 2013 Aug;60 Suppl 1:126-30. doi: 10.1227/01.neu.0000430773.18220.3f. Review.
- Gessler F, Forster MT, Duetzmann S, Mittelbronn M, Hattingen E, Franz K, Seifert V, Senft C. Combination of Intraoperative Magnetic Resonance Imaging and Intraoperative Fluorescence to Enhance the Resection of Contrast Enhancing Gliomas. Neurosurgery. 2015 Jul;77(1):16-22; discussion 22. doi: 10.1227/NEU.00000000000729.
- Ottenhausen M, Krieg SM, Meyer B, Ringel F. Functional preoperative and intraoperative mapping and monitoring: increasing safety and efficacy in glioma surgery.Neurosurg Focus. 2015 Jan;38(1):E3. doi: 10.3171/2014.10.FOCUS14611
- Cappello F, Marino Gammazza A, Palumbo Piccionello A, Campanella C, Pace A, Conway de Macario E, Macario AJL.Hsp60 chaperonopathies and chaperonotherapy: targets and agents. Expert Opin Ther Targets. 2014 Feb;18(2):185-208. doi: 10.1517/14728222.2014.856417.
- 16. Campanella, C. *et al.* Heat shock protein 60 levels in tissue and circulating exosomes in human large bowel cancer before and after ablative surgery. *Cancer* n/a-n/a (2015). doi:10.1002/cncr.29499
- Campanella, C, Caruso Bavisotto, C., Marino Gammazza, A. Nikolic, D. Rappa, F. David, S. Cappello, F. Bucchieri, F. Fais, S. Exosomal heat shock proteins as new players in tumour cell-to-cell communication J. Circ. Biom. 3, 2014.
- Duffau H.Brain plasticity: from pathophysiological mechanisms to therapeutic applications.J Clin Neurosci. 2006 Nov;13(9):885-97. Epub 2006 Oct 17. Review.
- Duffau H.Diffuse low-grade gliomas and neuroplasticity.Diagn Interv Imaging. 2014 Oct;95(10):945-55. doi: 10.1016/j.diii.2014.08.001. Epub 2014 Sep 16. Review.
- Lang FF, Wildrick DM, Sawaya R Management of Cerebral Metastases: The Role of Surgery.Cancer Control. 1998 Mar;5(2):124-129.
- Duffau H. Stimulation Mapping of Myelinated Tracts in Awake Patients.Brain Plast. 2016 Dec 21;2(1):99-113. doi: 10.3233/BPL-160027
- Duffau H, Taillandier L.New concepts in the management of diffuse low-grade glioma: Proposal of a multistage and individualized therapeutic approach.Neuro Oncol. 2015 Mar;17(3):332-42. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/nou153. Epub 2014 Aug 2. Review.

- 23. Vigneau M, Beaucousin V, Hervé PY, Duffau H, Crivello F, Houdé O, Mazoyer B, Tzourio-Mazoyer N Meta-analyzing left hemisphere language areas: phonology, semantics, and sentence processing. Neuroimage. 2006 May 1;30(4):1414-32. Epub 2006 Jan 18
- Duffau H.Awake mapping of the brain connectome in glioma surgery: Concept is stronger than technology.Eur J Surg Oncol. 2015 Sep;41(9):1261-3. doi: 10.1016/j.ejso.2015.05.009. Epub 2015 Jun 3.
- 25. Duffau H.Resecting diffuse low-grade gliomas to the boundaries of brain functions: a new concept in surgical neuro-oncology.J Neurosurg Sci. 2015 Dec;59(4):361-71. Epub 2015 Apr 24. Review
- Wrensch M¹, Minn Y, Chew T, Bondy M, Berger MS. Epidemiology of primary brain tumors: current concepts and review of the literature.Neuro Oncol. 2002 Oct;4(4):278-99. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/4.4.278.
- Bondy ML, Wrensch MR. Epidemiology of primary malignant brain tumours.Baillieres Clin Neurol. 1996 Jun;5(2):251-70.
- Ostrom QT, Barnholtz-Sloan JS.Current state of our knowledge on brain tumor epidemiology. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep. 2011 Jun;11(3):329-35. doi: 10.1007/s11910-011-0189-8. Review
- 29. Giammalva GR, Iacopino DG, Azzarello G, Gaggiotti C, Graziano F, Gulì C, Pino MA, Maugeri R. End-of-Life Care in High-Grade Glioma Patients. The Palliative and Supportive Perspective. Brain Sci. 2018 Jun 30;8(7). pii: E125. doi: 10.3390/brainsci8070125. Review.
- Ohgaki H, Kleihues P.Genetic alterations and signaling pathways in the evolution of gliomas. Cancer Sci. 2009 Dec;100(12):2235-41. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2009.01308.x. Epub 2009 Aug 6. Review.
- Wesseling P, Capper D WHO 2016 Classification of gliomas.Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol. 2018 Feb;44(2):139-150. doi: 10.1111/nan.12432.
- 32. Louis DN, Perry A, Reifenberger G, von Deimling A, Figarella-Branger D, Cavenee WK, Ohgaki H, Wiestler OD, Kleihues P, Ellison DW The 2016 World Health Organization Classification of Tumors of the Central Nervous System: a summary.Acta Neuropathol. 2016 Jun;131(6):803-20. doi: 10.1007/s00401-016-1545-1. Epub 2016 May 9. Review.
- 33. Rajesh Y¹, Biswas A¹, Mandal M².Glioma progression through the prism of heat shock protein mediated extracellular matrix remodeling and epithelial to mesenchymal transition.Exp Cell Res. 2017 Oct 15;359(2):299-311. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2017.08.032. Epub 2017 Aug 26.
- 34. Taphoorn MJB, Dirven L, Kanner AA, Lavy-Shahaf G, Weinberg U, Taillibert S, Toms SA, Honnorat J, Chen TC, Sroubek J, David C, Idbaih A, Easaw JC, Kim CY, Bruna J, Hottinger

AF, Kew Y, Roth P, Desai R, Villano JL, Kirson ED, Ram Z, Stupp R. Influence of Treatment With Tumor-Treating Fields on Health-Related Quality of Life of Patients With Newly Diagnosed Glioblastoma: A Secondary Analysis of a Randomized Clinical Trial.JAMA Oncol. 2018 Apr 1;4(4):495-504. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2017.5082

- Chen C, Xu T, Lu Y, Chen J, Wu S The efficacy of temozolomide for recurrent glioblastoma multiforme. Eur J Neurol. 2013 Feb;20(2):223-30. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2012.03778.x. Epub 2012 Jun 11. Review.
- 36. Green SB, Byar DP, Walker MD, Pistenmaa DA, Alexander E Jr, Batzdorf U, Brooks WH, Hunt WE, Mealey J Jr, Odom GL, Paoletti P, Ransohoff J 2nd, Robertson JT, Selker RG, Shapiro WR, Smith KR Jr, Wilson CB, Strike TA.Comparisons of carmustine, procarbazine, and high-dose methylprednisolone as additions to surgery and radiotherapy for the treatment of malignant glioma.Cancer Treat Rep. 1983 Feb;67(2):121-32
- Pendleton C1, Olivi A, Brem H, Quiñones-Hinojosa A. Harvey Cushing's early treatment of meningiomas: the untold story. World Neurosurg. 2013 Jul-Aug;80(1-2):217-21. doi: 10.1016/j.wneu.2011.08.021. Epub 2011 Nov 7.
- 38. Rogers L, Barani I, Chamberlain M, Kaley TJ, McDermott M, Raizer J, Schiff D, Weber DC, Wen PY, Vogelbaum MA Meningiomas: knowledge base, treatment outcomes, and uncertainties. A RANO review.J Neurosurg. 2015 Jan;122(1):4-23. doi: 10.3171/2014.7.JNS131644. Review.
- Giugno A, Grasso G, Maugeri R, Graziano F, Iacopino DG. Neurosurgical Odyssey: Case of Anaplastic Meningiomatosis. World Neurosurg. 2017 Oct;106:975-977. doi: 10.1016/j.wneu.2017.05.120.
- 40. McCarthy BJ, Davis FG, Freels S, Surawicz TS, Damek DM, Grutsch J, Menck HR, Laws ER Jr.Factors associated with survival in patients with meningioma.J Neurosurg. 1998 May;88(5):831-9.
- 41. Sughrue ME, Kane AJ, Shangari G, Rutkowski MJ, McDermott MW, Berger MS, Parsa AT The relevance of Simpson Grade I and II resection in modern neurosurgical treatment of World Health Organization Grade I meningiomas.J Neurosurg. 2010 Nov;113(5):1029-35. doi: 10.3171/2010.3.JNS091971. Epub 2010 Apr 9.
- 42. Sughrue ME, Sanai N, Shangari G, Parsa AT, Berger MS, McDermott MW.Outcome and survival following primary and repeat surgery for World Health Organization Grade III meningiomas.J Neurosurg. 2010 Aug;113(2):202-9. doi: 10.3171/2010.1.JNS091114.

- 43. Itakura H, Achrol AS, Mitchell LA, et al. Magnetic resonance image features identify glioblastoma phenotypic subtypes with distinct molecular pathway activities. Sci Transl Med. 2015;7(303):303ra138.
- 44. Wengenroth M, Blatow M, Guenther J, Akbar M, Tronnier VM, Stippich C.Diagnostic benefits of presurgical fMRI in patients with brain tumours in the primary sensorimotor cortex. Eur Radiol. 2011 Jul;21(7):1517-25. doi: 10.1007/s00330-011-2067-9. Epub 2011 Jan 28.
- 45. Raffa G, Conti A, Scibilia A, Cardali SM, Esposito F, Angileri FF, La Torre D, Sindorio C, Abbritti RV, Germanò A, Tomasello F. The Impact of Diffusion Tensor Imaging Fiber Tracking of the Corticospinal Tract Based on Navigated Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation on Surgery of Motor-Eloquent Brain Lesions. Neurosurgery. 2017 Nov 29.doi: 10.1093/neuros/nyx554
- 46. 20. Kis D, Máté A, Kincses ZT, Vörös E, Barzó P. The role of probabilistic tractography in the surgical treatment of thalamic gliomas.Neurosurgery. 2014 Jun;10 Suppl 2:262-72; discussion 272. doi: 10.1227/NEU.00000000000333
- 47. Stummer W, Novotny A, Stepp H, Goetz C, Bise K, Reulen HJ: Fluorescence-guided resection of glioblastoma multiforme by using 5-aminolevulinic acid-induced porphyrins: a prospective study in 52 consecutive patients. JNeurosurg 93:1003–1013, 2000
- Hadjipanayis CG, Widhalm G, Stummer W. What is the Surgical Benefit of Utilizing 5-Aminolevulinic Acid for Fluorescence-Guided Surgery of Malignant Gliomas? Neurosurgery. 2015 Nov;77(5):663-73. doi: 10.1227/NEU.00000000000929. Review
- 49. Maugeri R, Villa A, Pino M, Imperato A, Giammalva GR, Costantino G, Graziano F, Gulì C, Meli F, Francaviglia N, Iacopino DG. With a Little Help from My Friends: The Role of Intraoperative Fluorescent Dyes in the Surgical Management of High-Grade Gliomas.Brain Sci. 2018 Feb 7;8(2). pii: E31. doi: 10.3390/brainsci8020031. Review
- 50. Gessler F, Forster MT, Duetzmann S, Mittelbronn M, Hattingen E, Franz K, Seifert V, Senft C (2015) <u>Combination of Intraoperative Magnetic Resonance Imaging and Intraoperative Fluorescence to Enhance the Resection of Contrast Enhancing Gliomas.</u>Neurosurgery 77:16-22. doi: 10.1227/NEU.00000000000729.
- 51. Cochereau J, Deverdun J, Herbet G, Charroud C, Boyer A, Moritz-Gasser S, Le Bars E, Molino F, Bonafé A, Menjot de Champfleur N, Duffau H (2016) <u>Comparison between resting state fMRI networks and responsive cortical stimulations in glioma patients</u>. Hum Brain Mapp. 37:3721-3732. doi: 10.1002/hbm.23270.

- 52. Orringer DA, Golby A, Jolesz F: Neuronavigation in the surgical management of brain tumors: current and future trends. Expert Rev Med Devices 9:491–500, 2012
- 53. Vilasboas T, Herbet G, Duffau H. Challenging the Myth of Right Nondominant Hemisphere: Lessons from Corticosubcortical Stimulation Mapping in Awake Surgery and Surgical Implications. World Neurosurg. 2017 Jul;103:449-456. doi: 10.1016/j.wneu.2017.04.021. Epub 2017 Apr 15. Review.
- 54. Southwell DG, Birk HS, Han SJ, Li J, Sall JW, Berger MS. Resection of gliomas deemed inoperable by neurosurgeons based on preoperative imaging studies. J Neurosurg. 2017 Nov 10:1-9.doi: 10.3171/2017.5.JNS17166.
- 55. Lau D, Hervey-Jumper SL, Han SJ, Berger MS. Intraoperative perception and estimates on extent of resection during awake glioma surgery: overcoming the learning curve. J Neurosurg. 2017 Jul 21:1-9.doi: 10.3171/2017.1.JNS161811. [Epub ahead of print]
- 56. Wu JS, Gong X, Song YY, Zhuang DX, Yao CJ, Qiu TM, Lu JF, Zhang J, Zhu W, Mao Y, Zhou LF. 3.0-T intraoperative magnetic resonance imaging-guided resection in cerebral glioma surgery: interim analysis of a prospective, randomized, triple-blind, parallel-controlled trial. Neurosurgery. 2014 Aug;61 Suppl 1:145-54. doi: 10.1227/NEU.00000000000372
- 57. Moiyadi A, Shetty P: Objective assessment of utility of intraoperative ultrasound in resection of central nervous system tumors: A cost-effective tool for intraoperative navigation in neurosurgery. J Neurosci Rural Pract 2:4–11, 2011
- 58. Prada F, Perin A, Martegani A, Aiani L, Solbiati L, Lamperti M, et al: Intraoperative contrastenhanced ultrasound for brain tumor surgery. Neurosurgery 74:542–552, 2014
- 59. Prada F, Del Bene M, Mattei L, Casali C, Filippini A, Legnani F, et al: Fusion imaging for intra-operative ultrasound-based navigation in neurosurgery. J Ultrasound17:243–251, 2014
- 60. Czarnecka AM, Campanella C, Zummo G, Cappello F (2006) Mitochondrial chaperones in cancer: from molecular biology to clinical diagnostics. Cancer Biol Ther 5:714-720.
- Macario AJL, Conway de Macario E (2005) Sick chaperones, cellular stress, and disease. N Engl J Med 353:1489-1501. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra050111.
- Macario AJL, Conway de Macario E (2007) Chaperonopathies and chaperonotherapy. FEBS Lett 581:3681-8. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2007.04.030.
- 63. Cappello F, Marino Gammazza A, Palumbo Piccionello A, Campanella C, Pace A, Conway de Macario E, Macario AJL (2014) Hsp60 chaperonopathies and chaperonotherapy: targets and agents. Expert Opin Ther Targets 18:185-208. doi:10.1517/14728222.2014.856417.

- 64. Macario AJL, Conway de Macario E, Cappello F (2013) The Chaperonopathies. Diseases with defective molecular chaperones. Springer Dordrecht Heidelberg New York London. http://www.springer.com/biomed/book/978-94-007-4666-4.
- 65. Macario AJL, Conway de Macario E (2018) Chaperone proteins and chaperonopathies. In: Volume 3, Stress Physiology, Biochemistry, and Pathology. Handbook of Stress. Edited by: George Fink. Elsevier. (In press.).
- 66. Lindquist S (1986) The heat-shock response. Annu Rev Biochem 55:1151-1191.
- 67. Calderwood SK, Stevenson MA, Murshid A (2012) Heat shock proteins, autoimmunity, and cancer treatment. Autoimmune Dis 2012:486069. doi: 10.1155/2012/486069.
- 68. Macario AJL, Cappello F, Zummo G, Conway de Macario E (2010) Chaperonopathies of senescence and the scrambling of interactions between the chaperoning and the immune systems. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1197:85-93. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05187.
- 69. Tamura Y, Torigoe T, Kukita K, Saito K, Okuya K, Kutomi G, Hirata K, Sato N (2012) Heatshock proteins as endogenous ligands building a bridge between innate and adaptive immunity. Immunotherapy 4:841-852. doi: 10.2217/imt.12.75.
- 70. Fagone P, Di Rosa M, Palumbo M, De Gregorio C, Nicoletti F, Malaguarnera L (2012) Modulation of heat shock proteins during macrophage differentiation. Inflamm Res 61:1131-1139. doi: 10.1007/s00011-012-0506-y.
- 71. Rappa F, Farina F, Zummo G, David S, Campanella C, Carini F, Tomasello G, Damiani P, Cappello F, Conway de Macario E, Macario AJL (2012) HSP-molecular chaperones in cancer biogenesis and tumor therapy: an overview. Anticancer Res 32:5139-5150.
- 72. Kast RE, Boockvar JA, Brüning A, Cappello F, Chang WW, Cvek B, Dou QP, Duenas-Gonzalez A, Efferth T, Focosi D, Ghaffari SH, Karpel-Massler G, Ketola K, Khoshnevisan A, Keizman D, Magné N, Marosi C, McDonald K, Muñoz M, Paranjpe A, Pourgholami MH, Sardi I, Sella A, Srivenugopal KS, Tuccori M, Wang W, Wirtz CR, Halatsch ME (2013) A conceptually new treatment approach for relapsed glioblastoma: coordinated undermining of survival paths with nine repurposed drugs (CUSP9) by the International Initiative for Accelerated Improvement of Glioblastoma Care. Oncotarget 4:502-530.
- Mattick JS (2003). Challenging the dogma: the hidden layer of non-protein-coding RNAs in complex organisms. Bioessays 25:930-939. doi: 10.1002/bies.10332.
- 74. Rodriguez A, Griffiths-Jones S, Ashurst JL, Bradley A (2004) Identification of mammalian microRNA host genes and transcription units. Genome Res 14:1902-1910. doi: 10.1101/gr.2722704.

- 75. Batista PJ Chang HY (2013) Long noncoding RNAs: cellular address codes in development and disease. Cell 152, 1298-1307. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.02.012.
- 76. Crea F, Clermont PL, Parolia A, Wang Y, Helgason CD (2014) The non-coding transcriptome as a dynamic regulator of cancer metastasis. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 33:1-16. doi: 10.1007/s10555-013-9455-3.
- Malone C, Hannon G (2009) Small RNAs as guardians of the genome. Cell 136: 656–668. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.01.045.
- Patil VS, Zhou R, Rana TM (2014) Gene regulation by non-coding RNAs. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol 49:16-32. doi: 10.3109/10409238.2013.844092.
- 79. Brown BD, Naldini L (2009) Exploiting and antagonizing microRNA regulation for therapeutic and experimental applications. Nat Rev Genet 10:578-585. doi: 10.1038/nrg2628.
- Huang W (2017) MicroRNAs: Biomarkers, Diagnostics, and Therapeutics. Methods Mol Biol 1617:1657-67. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-7046-9_4.
- Borchert GM, Lanier W, Davidson BL (2006) RNA polymerase III transcribes human microRNAs. Nat Struct Mol Biol 13:1097-1101.doi: 10.1038/nsmb1167.
- 82. Calin GA, Dumitru CD, Shimizu M, Bichi R, Zupo S, Noch E, Aldler H, Rattan S, Keating M, Rai K, Rassenti L, Kipps T, Negrini M, Bullrich F, Croce CM (2002) Frequent deletions and down-regulation of micro- RNA genes miR15 and miR16 at 13q14 in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A99:15524-15529.doi: 10.1073/pnas.242606799.
- 83. Calin GA, Sevignani C, Dumitru CD, Hyslop T, Noch E, Yendamuri S, Shimizu M, Rattan S, Bullrich F, Negrini M, Croce CM (2004) Human microRNA genes are frequently located at fragile sites and genomic regions involved in cancers. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:2999-3004. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0307323101.
- 84. Zhang L, Huang J, Yang N, Greshock J, Megraw MS, Giannakakis A, Liang S, Naylor TL, Barchetti A, Ward MR, Yao G, Medina A, O'brien-Jenkins A, Katsaros D, Hatzigeorgiou A, Gimotty PA, Weber BL, Coukos G (2006) MicroRNAs exhibit high frequency genomic alterations in human cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103: 9136-9141. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0508889103.
- 85. Weber B, Stresemann C, Brueckner B, Lyko F (2007) Methylation of human microRNA genes in normal and neoplastic cells. Cell Cycle 6:1001-1005. doi: 10.4161/cc.6.9.4209.
- 86. Wang B, Hsu SH, Wang X, Kutay H, Bid HK, Yu J Ganju RK, Jacob ST, Yuneva M, Ghoshal K. (2014) Reciprocal regulation of microRNA-122 and c-Myc in hepatocellular

cancer: role of E2F1 and transcription factor dimerization partner 2. Hepatology 59: 555-566. doi: 10.1002/hep.26712.

- 87. Donzelli S, Mori F, Bellissimo T, Sacconi A, Casini B, Frixa T, Roscilli G, Aurisicchio L, Facciolo F, Pompili A, Carosi MA, Pescarmona E, Segatto O, Pond G, Muti P, Telera S, Strano S, Yarden Y, Blandino G (2015) Epigenetic silencing of miR-145-5p contributes to brain metastasis. Oncotarget 6: 35183-35201. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.5930.
- 88. Walz AL, Ooms A, Gadd S, Gerhard DS, Smith MA, Guidry Auvil JM, Meerzaman D, Chen QR, Hsu CH, Yan C, Nguyen C, Hu Y, Bowlby R, Brooks D, Ma Y, Mungall AJ, Moore RA, Schein J, Marra MA, Huff V, Dome JS, Chi YY, Mullighan CG, Ma J, Wheeler DA, Hampton OA, Jafari N, Ross N, Gastier-Foster JM, Perlman EJ (2015) Recurrent DGCR8, DROSHA, and SIX homeodomain mutations in favorable histology Wilms tumors. Cancer Cell 27: 286-297. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2015.01.003.
- Ma L, Teruya-Feldstein J, Weinberg RA (2007) Tumour invasion and metastasis initiated by microRNA-10b in breast cancer. Nature 449: 682-688. doi: 10.1038/nature06174.
- 90. Li N, Fu H, Tie Y, Hu Z, Kong W, Wu Y, Zheng X (2009) miR-34a inhibits migration and invasion by down-regulation of c-Met expression in human hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Cancer Lett 275: 44-53. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2008.09.035.
- 91. Volinia S, Calin GA, Liu CG, Ambs S, Cimmino A, Petrocca F, Visone R, Iorio M, Roldo C, Ferracin M, Prueitt RL, Yanaihara N, Lanza G, Scarpa A, Vecchione A, Negrini M, Harris CC, Croce CM (2006) A microRNA expression signature of human solid tumors defines S Proc Natl Acad Sci U А 103:2257-2261. doi: cancer gene targets. 10.1073/pnas.0510565103.
- 92. Lee YS, Pressman S, Andress AP, Kim K, White JL, Cassidy JJ, Li X, Lubell K, Lim DH, Cho IS, Nakahara K, Preall JB, Bellare P, Sontheimer EJ, Carthew RW (2009) Silencing by small RNAs is linked to endosomal trafficking. Nat Cell Biol 11:1150-1156. doi: 10.1038/ncb1930.
- 93. Stalder LW, Heusermann L, Sokol D, Trojer J, Wirz J, Hean A, Fritzsche F, Aeschimann V, Pfanzagl P, Basselet J, Weiler M, Hintersteiner DV, Morrissey NC, Meisner-Kober (2013) The rough endoplasmatic reticulum is a central nucleation site of siRNA-mediated RNA silencing. EMBO J 32:1115-1127. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2013.52.
- 94. Barman B, Bhattacharyya SN (2015) mRNA targeting to endoplasmic reticulum precedes ago protein interaction and MicroRNA (miRNA)-mediated translation repression in mammalian cells. J Biol Chem 290:24650-24656.doi: 10.1074/jbc.C115.661868.

- 95. Gibbings DJ, Ciaudo M Erhardt O (2009) Voinnet Multivesicular bodies associate with components of miRNA effector complexes and modulate miRNA activity. Nat Cell Biol 11:1143-1149. doi: 10.1038/ncb1929.
- Janas T, Janas MM, Sapon K (2015) Mechanisms of RNA loading into exosomes FEBS Lett 589:1391-1398. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2015.04.036.
- 97. Tewari M (2015) A functional extracellular transcriptome in animals? Implications for biology, disease and medicine. Genome Biol 16:47. doi: 10.1186/s13059-015-0613-5
- 98. Squadrito ML, Baer C, Burdet F, Maderna C, Gilfillan GD, Lyle R, Ibberson M, De Palma M (2014) Endogenous RNAs modulate microRNA sorting to exosomes and transfer to acceptor cells Cell Rep 8:1432-1446. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.07.035.
- Neviani P, Fabbri M (2015) Exosomic microRNAs in the tumor microenvironment. Front Med (Lausanne) 2:47. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2015.00047.
- 100. Caruso Bavisotto C, Marino Gammazza A, Rappa F, Fucarino A, Pitruzzella A, David S, Campanella C (2013) Exosomes: Can doctors still ignore their existence? EuroMediterranean Biomedical Journal 8:136-139. doi: 10.3269/1970-5492.2013.8.22.
- 101. Vlassov AV, Magdaleno S, Setterquist R, Conrad R (2012) Exosomes: current knowledge of their composition, biological functions, and diagnostic and therapeutic potentials. Biochim Biophys Acta Gen Subj 1820:940-948. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagen.2012.03.017.
- 102. Pan BT, Blostein R. Johnstone RM (1983) Loss of the transferrin receptor during the maturation of sheep reticulocytes in vitro. An immunological approach. Biochem J 210, 37-47.
- 103. Raposo G, Stoorvogel W (2013) Extracellular vesicles: Exosomes, microvesicles, and friends. J Cell Biol 200:373-383. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201211138.
- 104. Van Niel G, Porto-Carreiro I, Simoes S, Raposo G (2006) Exosomes: A common pathway for a specialized function. J Biochem 140:13-21. doi: 10.1093/jb/mvj128.
- 105. Ostrowski M, Carmo NB, Krumeich S, Fanget I, Raposo G, Savina A, Moita CF, Schauer K, Hume AN, Freitas RP, Goud B, Benaroch P, Hacohen N, Fukuda M, Desnos C, Seabra MC, Darchen F, Amigorena S, Moita LF, Thery C (2010) Rab27a and Rab27b control different steps of the exosome secretion pathway. Nat Cell Biol 12:19-30; sup:1-13. doi: 10.1038/ncb2000.
- 106. Xie Y, Zhang H, Li W, Deng Y, Munegowda MA, Chibbar R, Qureshi M, Xiang J (2010) Dendritic cells recruit T cell exosomes via exosomal LFA-1 leading to inhibition of CD8+ CTL responses through downregulation of peptide/MHC class I and Fas ligand-mediated cytotoxicity. J Immunol 185:5268-5278. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1000386.

- 107. van Niel G, Charrin S, Simoes S, Romao M, Rochin L, Saftig P, Marks MS, Rubinstein E, Raposo G (2011) The tetraspanin CD63 regulates ESCRT-independent and dependent endosomal sorting during melanogenesis Dev Cell 21:708-721. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2011.08.019.
- 108. Schorey JS, Bhatnagar S (2008) Exosome function: from tumor immunology to pathogen biology. Traffic 9:871-81. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0854.2008.00734.x.
- 109. Choi DS, Park JO, Jang SC, Yoon YJ, Jung JW, Choi DY, Kim JW, Kang JS, Park J, Hwang D, Lee KH, Park SH, Kim YK, Desiderio DM, Kim KP, Gho YS (2007) Proteomic analysis of microvesicles derived from human colorectal cancer cells. J Proteome Res 6:4646-4655. doi: 10.1002/pmic.201100022.
- 110. Qu Y, Franchi L, Nunez G, Dubyak GR (2007) Nonclassical IL-1 beta secretion stimulated by P2X7 receptors is dependent on inflammasome activation and correlated with exosome release in murine macrophages. J Immunol 179:1913-1925.
- 111. Phoonsawat W, Aoki-Yoshida A, Tsuruta, T, Sonoyama K (2014) Adiponectin is partially associated with exosomes in mouse serum. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 448:261-266. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.04.114.
- 112. Chen L, Chen R, Kemper S, Charrier A, Brigstock DR (2015) Suppression of fibrogenic signaling in hepatic stellate cells by Twist1-dependent microRNA-214 expression: Role of exosomes in horizontal transfer of Twist1. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 309:G491-499. doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00140.2015.
- 113. Campanella C, Bucchieri F, Merendino AM, Fucarino A, Burgio G, Corona DF, Barbieri G, David S, Farina F, Zummo G, de Macario EC, Macario AJ, Cappello F (2012) The odyssey of Hsp60 from tumor cells to other destinations includes plasma membrane-associated stages and Golgi and exosomal protein-trafficking modalities. PLoS One 7:e42008. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0042008.
- 114. Lancaster GI, Febbraio M. (2005) Exosome-dependent trafficking of HSP70: A novel secretory pathway for cellular stress proteins. J Biol Chem 280:23349–23355 doi: 10.1074/jbc.M502017200.
- 115. Bausero MA, Gastpar R, Multhoff G, Asea A (2005) Alternative mechanism by which IFNgamma enhances tumor recognition: active release of heat shock protein 72. J Immunol 175:2900-2912.
- 116. Vega VL, Rodríguez-Silva M, Frey T, Gehrmann M, Diaz JC, Steinem C, Multhoff G, Arispe N, De Maio A (2008) Hsp70 translocates into the plasma membrane after stress and is

released into the extracellular environment in a membrane-associated form that activates macrophages. J Immunol 180:4299-4307.

- 117. Gastpar R, Gehrmann M, Bausero MA, Asea A, Gross C, Schroeder JA, Multhoff G (2005) Heat shock protein 70 surface-positive tumor exosomes stimulate migratory and cytolytic activity of natural killer cells. Cancer Res 65:5238-5247. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-3804.
- 118. Lv LH, Wan YL, Lin Y, Zhang W, Yang M, Li GL, Lin HM, Shang CZ, Chen YJ, Min J (2012) Anticancer drugs cause release of exosomes with heat shock proteins from human hepatocellular carcinoma cells that elicit effective natural killer cell antitumor responses in vitro. J Biol Chem 4;287:15874-85. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.340588.
- 119. McCready J, Sims JD, Chan D, Jay DG (2010) Secretion of extracellular hsp90alpha via exosomes increases cancer cell motility: a role for plasminogen activation. BMC Cancer. 10:294. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-10-294.
- 120. Merendino AM, Bucchieri F, Campanella C, Marcianò V, Ribbene A, David S, Zummo G, Burgio G, Corona DF, Conway de Macario E, Macario AJL, Cappello F (2010) Hsp60 is actively secreted by human tumor cells. PLoS One 5:e9247. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0009247.
- 121. Lee Y, El Andaloussi S, Wood MJ (2012) Exosomes and microvesicles: extracellular vesicles for genetic information transfer and gene therapy. Hum Mol Genet 21:R125-134. doi: 10.1093/hmg/dds317.
- 122. Gupta S, Knowlton AA (2007) HSP60 trafficking in adult cardiac myocytes: role of the exosomal pathway. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 292:H3052-3056. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.01355.2006.
- 123. Hayoun D, Kapp T, Edri-Brami M, Ventura T, Cohen M, Avidan A, Lichtenstein RG (2012) HSP60 is transported through the secretory pathway of 3-MCA-induced fibrosarcoma tumour cells and undergoes N-glycosylation. FEBS J 279:2083-2095. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-4658.2012.08594.x.
- 124. Marino Gammazza A, Campanella C, Barone R, Caruso Bavisotto C, Gorska M, Wozniak M, Carini F, Cappello F, D'Anneo A, Lauricella M, Zummo G, Conway de Macario E, Macario AJL, Di Felice V (2017) Doxorubicin anti-tumor mechanisms include Hsp60 post-translational modifications leading to the Hsp60/p53 complex dissociation and instauration of replicative senescence. Cancer Lett 385:75-86. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2016.10.045.
- 125. Caruso Bavisotto C, Cappello F, Macario AJL, Conway de Macario E, Logozzi M, Fais S, Campanella C (2017). Exosomal HSP60: a potentially useful biomarker for diagnosis,

assessing prognosis, and monitoring response to treatment. Exp Rev Mol Diag 17:815-822. doi: 10.1080/14737159.2017.1356230.

- 126. Ratajczak J, Miekus K, Kucia M, Zhang J, Reca R, Dvorak P, Ratajczak MZ.(2006) Embryonic stem cell-derived microvesicles reprogram hematopoietic progenitors: evidence for horizontal transfer of mRNA and protein delivery. Leukemia 20:847-856. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2404132.
- 127. Kosaka N, Iguchi H, Yoshioka Y, Takeshita F, Matsuki Y, Ochiya T (2010) Secretory mechanisms and intercellular transfer of microRNAs in living cells. J Biol Chem 285: 17442-17452. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.107821
- 128. Villarroya-Beltri C, Gutiérrez-Vázquez C, Sánchez-Cabo F, Pérez-Hernández D, Vázquez J, Martin-Cofreces N, Martinez-Herrera DJ, Pascual-Montano A, Mittelbrunn M, Sánchez-Madrid F (2013) Sumoylated hnRNPA2B1 controls the sorting of miRNAs into exosomes through binding to specific motifs. Nat Commun 4:2980. doi: 10.1038/ncomms3980.
- 129. Guduric-Fuchs J, O'Connor A, Camp B, O'Neill CL, Medina RJ, Simpson DA (2012) Selective extracellular vesicle-mediated export of an overlapping set of microRNAs from multiple cell types. BMC Genomics 13:357. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-13-357.
- 130. Nolte-'t Hoen EN, Buermans HP, Waasdorp M, Stoorvogel W, Wauben MH, Hoen PA (2012) Deep sequencing of RNA from immune cell-derived vesicles uncovers the selective incorporation of small non-coding RNA biotypes with potential regulatory functions. Nucleic Acids Res 40:9272–9285. doi: 10.1093/nar/gks658.
- 131. Li CC, Eaton SA, Young PE, Lee M, Shuttleworth R, Humphreys DT, Grau GE, Combes V, Bebawy M, Gong J, Brammah S, Buckland ME, Suter CM (2013) Glioma microvesicles carry selectively packaged coding and non-coding RNAs which alter gene expression in recipient cells. RNA Biol. 10:1333–1344. doi: 10.4161/rna.25281.
- 132. Rappa F., E. Unti, P. Baiamonte, F. Cappello, N. Scibetta. Different immunohistochemical levels of Hsp60 and Hsp70 in a subset of brain tumors and putative role of Hsp60 in neuroepithelial tumorigenesis. Eur. J. Histochem., 57 (2013), p. 20
- 133. Marino Gammazza, A, Caruso Bavisotto, C., David, S., Barone, R., Rappa, F., Campanella, C., Conway de Macario, E., Cappello, F. and Macario, A.J.L. HSP60 is a ubiquitous player in the physiological and pathogenic interactions between the chaperoning and the immune systems. Curr. Immunol. Rev.13(1); 44-55, 2017. DOI:10.2174/1573395513666170412170540
- 134. Li G., Y. Xu, D. Guan, Z. Liu, D.X. Liu. HSP70 protein promotes survival of C6 and U87 glioma cells by inhibition of ATF5 degradation. J. Biol. Chem., 286 (2011), pp. 20251-20259

- 135. Belkacemi L., M.O. Hebb. HSP27 knockdown produces synergistic induction of apoptosis by HSP90 and kinase inhibitors in glioblastoma multiforme. Anticancer Res., 34 (2014), pp. 4915-4927
- 136. Azoitei N., et al. HSP90 supports tumor growth and angiogenesis through PRKD2 protein stabilization. Cancer Res., 74 (2014), pp. 7125-7136.
- 137. Strik HM, Weller M, Frank B, Hermisson M, Deininger MH, Dichgans J, Meyermann R(2000) Heat shock protein expression in human gliomas. Anticancer Res 20:4457-4462.
- 138. Khalil AA, Kabapy NF, Deraz SF, Smith C (2011) Heat shock proteins in oncology: diagnostic biomarkers or therapeutic targets? Biochim Biophys Acta 1816:89-104. doi: 10.1016/j.bbcan.2011.05.001
- 139. Golembieski WA, Thomas SL, Schultz CR, Yunker CK, McClung HM, Lemke N, Cazacu S, Barker T, Sage EH, Brodie C, Rempel SA (2008) HSP27 mediates SPARC-induced changes in glioma morphology, migration, and invasion. Glia 56:1061-1075. doi: 10.1002/glia.20679
- 140. Graziano F, Bavisotto CC, Gammazza AM, Rappa F, de Macario EC, Macario AJL, Cappello F, Campanella C, Maugeri R, Iacopino DG.Chaperonology: The Third Eye on Brain Gliomas.Brain Sci. 2018 Jun 14;8(6). pii: E110. doi: 10.3390/brainsci8060110.
- 141. Sauvageot CM, Weatherbee JL, Kesari S, Winters SE, Barnes J, Dellagatta J, Ramakrishna NR, Stiles CD, Kung AL, Kieran MW, Wen PY (2009) Efficacy of the HSP90 inhibitor 17-AAG in human glioma cell lines and tumorigenic glioma stem cells. Neuro Oncol 11:109-21. doi: 10.1215/15228517-2008-060.
- 142. Nagaraju GP, Long TE, Park W, Landry JC, Taliaferro-Smith L, Farris AB, Diaz R, El-Rayes BF (2015) Heat shock protein 90 promotes epithelial to mesenchymal transition, invasion, and migration in colorectal cancer. Mol Carcinog 54:1147-1158. doi: 10.1002/mc.22185.
- 143. Rappa F, Cappello F, Halatsch ME, Scheuerle A, Kast RE (2013) Aldehyde dehydrogenase and HSP90 co-localize in human glioblastoma biopsy cells. Biochimie 95:782-786. doi: 10.1016/j.biochi.2012.11.007.
- 144. Clayton A, Turkes A, Navabi H, Mason MD, Tabi Z (2005) Induction of heat shock proteins in B-cell exosomes. J Cell Sci 118:3631-3638.
- 145. Mäkelä KS, Haapasalo JA, Ilvesaro JM, Parkkila S, Paavonen T, Haapasalo HK (2014) Hsp27 and its expression pattern in diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas. Histol Histopathol 29:1161-1168. doi: 10.14670/HH-29.1161.

- 146. Gimenez M, Marie SK, Oba-Shinjo S, Uno M, Izumi C, Oliveira JB, Rosa JC (2015) Quantitative proteomic analysis shows differentially expressed HSPB1 in glioblastoma as a discriminating short from long survival factor and NOVA1 as a differentiation factor between low-grade astrocytoma and oligodendroglioma. BMC Cancer 15:481. doi:10.1186/s12885-015-1473-9.
- 147. Graner MW, Raynes DA, Bigner DD, Guerriero V (2009) Heat shock protein 70-binding protein 1 is highly expressed in high-grade gliomas, interacts with multiple heat shock protein 70 family members, and specifically binds brain tumor cell surfaces. Cancer Sci 100:1870-9. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2009.01269.x.
- 148. Morino M, Tsuzuki T, Ishikawa Y, Shirakami T, Yoshimura M, Kiyosuke Y, Matsunaga K, Yoshikumi C, Saijo N (1997) Specific expression of HSP27 in human tumor cell lines in vitro. In Vivo 11:179-184.
- 149. Thuringer D, Hammann A, Benikhlef N, Fourmaux E, Bouchot A, Wettstein G, Solary E, Garrido C (2011) Transactivation of the epidermal growth factor receptor by heat shock protein 90 via Toll-like receptor 4 contributes to the migration of glioblastoma cells. J Biol Chem 286:3418-3428. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.154823.
- 150. Ghosh JC, Siegelin MD, Dohi T, Altieri DC (2010) Heat shock protein 60 regulation of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore in tumor cells. Cancer Res 70:8988-8993. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-2225.
- 151. Alexiou GA, Vartholomatos G, Stefanaki K, Patereli A, Dova L, Karamoutsios A, Lallas G, Sfakianos G, Moschovi M, Prodromou N (2013) Expression of heat shock proteins in medulloblastoma. J Neurosurg Pediatr 12:452-457. doi:10.3171/2013.7.PEDS1376.
- 152. Samali A, Cai J, Zhivotovsky B, Jones DP, Orrenius S (1999) Presence of a pre-apoptotic complex of pro-caspase-3, Hsp60 and Hsp10 in the mitochondrial fraction of jurkat cells. EMBO J 15;18:2040-2048.
- 153. Caruso Bavisotto C, Nikolic D, Marino Gammazza A, Barone R, Lo Cascio F, Mocciaro E, Zummo G, Conway de Macario E, Macario AJL, Cappello F, Giacalone V, Pace A, Barone G, Palumbo Piccionello A, Campanella C (2017) The dissociation of the Hsp60/pro-Caspase-3 complex by bis(pyridyl)oxadiazole copper complex (CubipyOXA) leads to cell death in NCI-H292 cancer cells. J Inorg Biochem 170:8-16. doi: 10.1016/j.jinorgbio.2017.02.004.
- 154. Kirchhoff SR, Gupta S, Knowlton AA (2002) Cytosolic heat shock protein 60, apoptosis, and myocardial injury. Circulation. 105:2899-2904.

- 155. Cheng W, Li Y, Hou X, Zhang N, Ma J, Ding F, Li F, Miao Z, Zhang Y, Qi Q, Li G, Shen Y, Liu J, Huang W, Wang Y 2014 HSP60 is involved in the neuroprotective effects of naloxone. Mol Med Rep 10:2172-2176. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2014.2411.
- 156. Stefano L, Racchetti G, Bianco F, Passini N, Gupta RS, Panina Bordignon P, Meldolesi J (2009) The surface-exposed chaperone, Hsp60, is an agonist of the microglial TREM2 receptor. J Neurochem 1100:284-294. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2009.06130.x.